EFFECT OF IRON DEFICIENCY AND IRON DEFICIENCY ANEMIA ON NATURAL IMMUNITY TO MALARIA INFECTIONS AND MALARIA VACCINE RESPONSE IN KILIFI CHILDREN

CAROLINE KENDI BUNDI

MASTER OF SCIENCE (Medical Laboratory Science)

JOMO KENYATTA UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

2022

Effect of Iron Deficiency and Iron Deficiency Anemia on Natural Immunity to Malaria Infections and Malaria Vaccine Response in Kilifi Children

Kendi. C. Bundi

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Laboratory Science of Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

2022

i

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Kendi. C. Bundi

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as University Supervisors.



Date:

Prof. Sarah Atkinson

KEMRI/Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya

University of Oxford, England

Signature:Date.....

Prof. Joseph Gikunju

JKUAT, Kenya

Signature: ..

Date

Dr. Francis Ndungu

KEMRI/Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kilifi, Kenya

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my husband, Mr. Linus Muthuri and my daughter Keren Pendo for supporting and giving me an easy moment during my studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank the Almighty God, in whom I have found guidance, health and strength to make this research a great success. I take this opportunity to express my gratitude to everyone whose support I got through constructive criticism and friendly advice during the project work.

Am greatly indebted to my supervisors Prof. Sarah Atkinson, Prof Joseph Gikunju, Dr Francis Ndungu, for their continued support, guidance and mentorship throughout this project. Thank you for the many times you read through my thesis, manuscripts and PowerPoints presentations. May God bless you in all your future endeavours. To Dr Rachael Ochola for your mentorship and encouragement.

This project could not have been successfully accomplished without the support of Jedidiah Mwacharo who guided me in the laboratory analysis. The entire KEMRI Wellcome Trust fraternity for the capacity building for nurturing and strengthening my role as a research student and future scientist support. Special appreciation to IDeAL for funding my masters project.

Many thanks to the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology where I was registered in the Medical Laboratory Department as a student for their invaluable support throughout the project period.

Finally, to my caring, loving and supportive husband Mr. Linus Muthuri together with my dad Mr. Martin Bundi my deepest gratitude. Your prayers, encouragement and support always are much appreciated and duly noted.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONII
DEDICATIONIII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IV
TABLE OF CONTENTSV
LIST OF TABLES IX
LIST OF APPENDICES XI
LIST OF FIGURESXII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONXIII
ABSTRACT XIV
CHAPTER ONE1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background1
1.2 Justification of the study4
1.3 Statement of the problem5
1.4 Research question6
1.5 Hypothesis6
1.6 Objectives7
1.6.1 General Objective7
1.6.2 Specific objective7
1.7 Scope of the study7
CHAPTER TWO8
LITERATURE REVIEW8

2.1 Iron biology and human health	8
2.2 Epidemiology and causes of iron deficiency	8
2.3 Iron homeostasis	9
2.4 Pathogen iron acquisition mechanism	11
2.5 Iron and immunity	
2.5.1 Iron deficiency and immune functions	
2.5.2 Iron deficiency and vaccine response.	14
2.6 Malaria epidemiology and life cycle.	15
2.6.1 Malaria epidemiology	15
2.6.2 Malaria life cycle	
2.7 Immunity to malaria infections	17
2.7.1 General Immunity	17
2.7.2 Malaria antibodies.	
2.7.3 B cells in malaria infection	20
2.7.4 T cells in malaria infection	21
2.8 Malaria vaccines	21
CHAPTER THREE	25
METHODOLOGY	25
3.1 Study area	25
3.2 Study design	
3.3 Study population	
3.3.1 Inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria	
3.4 Sample size calculation	

3.5 Sampling methods.	
3.6 Data collection	
3.6.1 Iron analyses	
3.6.2 Malaria natural immunity antibody analysis	
3.6.3 CS antibodies ELISA assays for RTS,S/AS01E vaccine	
3.6.4 ELISpot assays for ME-TRAP vaccine response	
3.7 Case definitions	34
3.8 Data managements and statistical analysis	34
3.9 Ethical considerations	35
CHAPTER FOUR	36
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	36
4.1 Effects of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on acquisition of antibodies	of malaria 36
4.1.1 Participant's characteristics	
4.1.2 Combined cohorts (RTSS and Junju)	
4.1.3 Replication cohort	46
4.2 Effect of ID on malaria vaccine responses	50
4.2.1 Participant's characteristics	50
4.2.2 RTSS vaccine cohort	51
4.2.3 ME-TRAP vaccine cohort	55
4.3 Discussion	61
4.3.1 Effects of ID on acquisition of natural immunity to malaria	61
4.3.2 Effects of iron deficiency on malaria vaccine responses	63

4.3.3 Possible mechanisms via which iron deficiency might alter immuni	ty64
4.4 Challenges and strength of study	65
CHAPTER FIVE	67
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	67
5.1 Summary	67
5.2 Conclusions	67
5.3 Recommendations and scope for future work	68
REFERENCES	69
APPENDICES	90

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Sampling procedure
Table 3.2: Iron markers measurement
Table 4.1 : Participant's characteristics 37
Table 4.2 : Univariable linear regression showing the association between covariates and AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies for the Junju and RTSS cohorts
Table 4.3 : Geometric means of AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies by iron deficiency as defined by low ferritin, low TSAT, IDA and anemia for individual cohorts
Table 4.4: Linear regression (unadjusted and adjusted) showing the association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the Junju cohort
Table 4.5: Linear regression (adjusted and unadjusted) showing the association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the RTSS cohort
Table 4.6 : Geometric means of AMA1 alleles, MSP2 alleles and schizonts by low ferritin, IDA and anemia in Ngerenya cohort
Table 4.7: Linear regression (adjusted and unadjusted) showing the association between AMA1 alleles, MSP 2 alleles and schizont antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the Ngerenya cohort
Table 4.8 : Participant's characteristics
Table 4.9 : Geometric means of anti-circumsporozoite antibodies by iron deficiency as defined by low ferritin and TSAT<10%

- Table 4.11: Linear regression (unadjusted and adjusted) showing the association of interferon gamma producing PBMC's (cultured) by iron deficiency and iron biomarkers

 58

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendices I: Ethics certificate	
Appendices II: Publication	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Systemic iron regulation
Figure 2.2: Plasmodium falciparum lifecycle and immune response at various stage18
Figure 2.3: Malaria vaccine candidates in clinical developments
Figure 3.1: Kilifi County map showing the study cohorts
Figure 3.2 Study summary schema
Figure 4.1: Box plot showing the geometric mean AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies by ID, IDA and anemia
Figure 4.2 : Forest plot showing the unadjusted association between AMA1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts)
Figure 4.3: Forest plot showing the unadjusted association between MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts)
Figure 4.4 : Forest plot showing the adjusted association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts)
Figure 4.5 : Forest plot showing the adjusted association between MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts)
Figure 4.6 : Box plot showing the geometric mean Interferon gamma producing PBMCs assayed by culture and ex vivo assays iron status defined by low TSAT (TSAT<10%)
Figure 4.7:Box plot showing the geometric mean Interferon gamma producing PBMCs assayed by culture and ex vivo assays anemia

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

- AMA Apical Membrane Protein.
- **EBA** Erythrocyte Binding Antigen.
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- **CRP** C-reactive protein
- **DMT1** Divalent metal transporter 1
- **FNP** Ferroportin.
- ELISA Enzyme Link Immunoassay.
- MSP Merozoite Binding protein
- **sTfR** Soluble transferrin receptor
- **TNF-** α Tumor necrosis factor- α
- **TS** Transferrin saturation
- **RON 2** Rhoptry neck protein
- Nramp2 Natural Resistance-Associated Macrophage Protein 2
- **WHO** World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

In Kenya, the prevalence of iron deficiency (ID) has been reported to be as high as 35%. ID has been associated with impaired immunity thus increasing susceptibility to infectious diseases. In addition, it has been shown to lower vaccine responses to some childhood vaccines such as measles, diptheria-pertussis and influenza. On the other hand, malaria infection caused by *Plasmodium falciparum* remains a public health problem causing about half a million deaths annually However, little is known about how ID might affect acquisition of natural immunity to malaria and malaria vaccine responses. The objective of this study was to determine the effects of iron deficiency on acquisition of antibodies to malaria and malaria vaccine responses. To achieve these malaria antibodies, iron and inflammatory biomarkers from community-based children were assayed. ID was defined using two definitions a) low ferritin (WHO definition) and b) low transferrin saturation (TSAT) < 10%. Malaria antibodies were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), including apical merozoite antigen1 (AMA1), merozoite surface antigens 1 and 2 (MSP1 & 2) and schizont in communitybased children (n=1,160) and anti-circumsporozoite (CSP) antibodies in RTSSvaccinated children (n=115). For ME-TRAP-vaccinated children (n=91), interferon gamma (IFN γ) producing peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were assayed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent spots (ELISPOTs). Student's t-tests, univariate and adjusted multivariate linear regression models were used to determine the effect of ID on natural immunity. The overall prevalence of ID was 33% using the WHO definition and 48% using the low TSAT definition. Using unadjusted linear regression models, there was a significant association between ID (as defined by low ferritin) and AMA1 (β -1.16, 95% CI -1.16; -0.97, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.83, 95% CI -1.02; -0.64, p < 0.001). Low TSAT was associated with lower AMA1 (β -0.81, 95% CI -0.99; -0.62, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.45, 95% CI -0.63; -0.28, p < 0.001) antibodies in children with TSAT <10% compared to children with TSAT>10%. In the adjusted model antibody levels to AMA1 (β -0.42, 95% CI -0.59; -0.25, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.40, 95% CI -0.60; -0.20, p < 0.001) were significantly lower in ID compared to iron replete (IR) children. However, with the low TSAT definition, only antibodies to AMA1 (β -0.21, 95% CI -0.36; -0.05, p = 0.008) remained significantly lower in ID children compared to IR children. were obtained. ID using both definitions was also associated with nonsignificantly lower antibody responses to the RTSS,S' vaccine at 3, 6 and 14 months after vaccination. However, iron deficient (low TSAT definition) children had higher IFN_{γ} concentrations at 6 months after the ME-TRAP vaccine (β 0.38, 95% CI 0.10; 0.65 p = 0.01). In conclusion, ID decreases malaria antibodies acquisition in children, which may decrease their protection and recovery from malaria. Vaccine responses were not significantly affected by ID in children receiving the RTSS,S' vaccine. However, ID children had higher IFN γ responses to the ME-TRAP malaria vaccine. Strategies to prevent and treat iron deficiency may improve natural immunity to malaria for children living in Kenya.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Iron deficiency (ID) is the most common micronutrient deficiency in the world affecting approximately one billion people, almost 25% of the total population(Kotze et al., 2009; Oppenheimer, 2001). The main groups at risk are children with a prevalence of roughly 43% and pregnant women at 38% according to a report released in 2015 (WHO, 2015). In Kenya, the prevalence of ID has been reported to be as high as 35% among children (Muriuki et al., 2020). ID is associated with poor child growth with effects such as impaired brain development and long-term impairment of behavioral and cognitive performance(Beard, 2007; Lozoff, 2011). In addition to these defects, ID has been shown to impair the immune system thus increasing susceptibility to infectious diseases (Beard, 2001; Jabara et al., 2016).

Malaria caused by *P. falciparum* is the leading cause of mortality and morbidity particularly in children globally. According to the WHO 2020 malaria report, between 2019 and 2020, estimated malaria cases increased from 213 million to 228 million, and deaths from 534 000 to 602 000 in the WHO African Region (World Health Organization, 2021a). Additionally, Africa accounted for 96% of deaths globally with 80% of all deaths in this region being among children aged under 5 years (World Health Organization, 2021a). Repeated exposure to *P. falciparum* has been shown to be associated with the development of immunity against severe malaria infections however sterile immunity is not usually achieved (Ndungu et al., 2002; Osier et al., 2008). Both cell-mediated immunity and humoral immunity play key roles in malaria infection. Antibodies to merozoites are protective against clinical disease by inhibiting blood stage replication and preventing high-density parasitemia (Richards et al., 2010; Teo et al., 2016). Some of these antibodies include anti-AMA1, anti-EBA 175, anti-MSP1, anti-MSP2, anti-MSP3 and many others that have been associated with malaria protection

(Beeson et al., 2016). These antibodies differ in the quantity produced, specificity and affinity to malaria antigens (Stirnadel et al., 2000). In cellular immunity, immunity to malaria has been linked to the availability and function of helper CD4+ T cells, cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells that can respond to both the asymptomatic liver stage and the symptomatic blood stage of *P. falciparum* infection (Kurup et al., 2019).

The precise role of iron in immune regulation especially in children vulnerable to ID is not fully known (Das et al., 2014). However, it has been shown to play an important role in the development and function of the immune system. ID affects the capacity to have an adequate immune response that is necessary for immune proliferation and the generation of specific responses to infection (Beard, 2001; Jabara et al., 2016). Many studies have been conducted with the aim of revealing the relationship between iron and immune status however, with conflicting reports. Humoral immunity has been shown to be affected by ID. A study by Jabara et al reported that mutation of transferrin receptor 1 which is important for cellular iron uptake leads to failure to express a 1μ -Ce transcript that is required for immunoglobulin class switching. Consequently, children with the mutated gene had no circulating immunoglobulins (Jabara et al., 2016). Iron has also been reported to be important in B cell proliferations that leads to generation of antibodies (Jiang et al., 2019). Other studies have also reported a decrease of one or more immunoglobulin (Hassan et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2006). In contrast, some studies have reported no difference in immunoglobulin concentrations between ID and IR individuals (Das et al., 2014; Ekiz et al., 2005).

In line with the effects of ID on the immune system many studies have reported the cooccurrence of ID and increased risk of infection. Several chronic diseases have been associated with iron deficiency anemia (IDA) including chronic kidney disease, chronic heart failure, cancer, inflammation and bowel diseases (Jonker & Boele,2014; Lopez et al., 2016). Mean concentrations of serum IgG4 and IgG1, and Pneumococcal specific IgG1, IgG2 antibodies were decreased in children with ID which was thought to lead to recurrent pneumococcal infections (Feng et al., 1994). In addition, Azab et al., reported that healthy children with IDA were 3.8 times likely to develop stroke compared to healthy children without IDA (Azab et al., 2014).

Despite the huge burden of ID and malaria infection in African children, very little is known about how ID affects immunity to malaria. Malaria infection and ID share the same geographical area and children suffer the largest burden (Matsuzaki-Moriya et al., 2011). A study by Nyakeriga et al reported lower malaria-specific IgG in children with ID compared to children without (Nyakeriga et al., 2004) but the effects of ID on specific malaria antibodies has not been explored. In a mouse model, mice with induced IDA had lower total IgG antibodies against *Plasmodium yoelii* compared to control mice without IDA (Matsuzaki-Moriya et al., 2011). Despite the few studies on ID and malaria immunity, we have some studies that have been carried out exploring the relationship between nutritional status and immunity to malaria. A study carried out in Papua New Guinea showed that wasted children had lower antibodies to MSP1 and MSP2 alleles compared to well-nourished children (Genton et al., 1998). Malnourished children have also been reported to have 33% lower total IgG to schizont antigen compared to non-malnourished children (Fillo) et al., 2009).

Public health strategies for malaria in endemic countries aim to prevent transmission of the disease and control the vector (Gachelin et al., 2018). Vaccines play a key role in public health by protecting against infection. There is much effort has been put in to developing various types of malaria vaccines (Burns, 2018; Draper et al., 2018). Two malaria vaccines have been trialed in Kilifi County children: FFM ME-TRAP and RTS,S/AS01E. The FFM ME-TRAP offers protection against malaria infection by stimulating T cells to produce interferon gamma, while RTS,S/AS01E confers protection against the liver stage of *P. falciparum* via anti-circumsporozoite antibodies (Bejon et al., 2006, 2008).

Studies seeking to link iron deficiency and vaccine responses have recently been reviewed (Oppenheimer, 2001; Preston et al., 2021) and the finding have not been

consistent. In a birth cohort, iron supplementation of infants at the time of measles vaccination was shown to improve vaccine response(Stoffel et al., 2020) and iron deficiency has been associated with significantly lower measles vaccine responses in children and individuals with mutations in *TMPRSS6* that leads to increased hepcidin levels were reported to have lower antibody levels against rubella, Hib and anti-*Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype1 compared to the healthy control group post vaccination (Frost et al., 2021). Low serum iron concentration was associate with non-response in elderly hospitalized patients that received influenza vaccine (Fülöp et al., 1999). In earlier studies the finding differed depending on the vaccine, iron deficient children did not respond to dipheria vaccine (Macdougall et al., 1975) while tetanus, influenza and typhoid vaccine showed no difference between the iron deficient and non-deficient group(Chandra & Saraya, 1975; Crogan et al., 2005; Macdougall et al., 1975). In animal models, lower vaccine responses have been reported in iron deficient piglets (Frost et al., 2021), mice and rats model (Dhur et al., 1990; Jiang et al., 2019; Kochanowski & Sherman, 1985)

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of ID on the acquisition of natural immunity against malaria infection in children and on malaria vaccine responses. To achieve this, iron biomarkers and malaria antibodies (AMA1 and MSP1) were measured in 924 community-based children. These results were replicated in a different cohort (n=236) of community-based children. For the effect of ID on malaria vaccine responses we included children vaccinated with the RTSS,ASOE vaccine (n=115) and the ME-TRAP vaccine (n=91).

1.2 Justification of the study

Despite the homeostatic control of iron in the human body, ID poses a major public health problem especially in children below 5 years. The prevalence of ID has been reported to be as high as 35% in Kenyan children (Muriuki et al., 2020).

Previous studies on iron and immunity report conflicting results for the effects of ID on immunoglobulin production in children (Ekiz et al., 2005; Hassan et al., 2016). However, one small study evaluating the relationship of ID and immunity in *P. falciparum* infected children reported low malaria-specific IgG titers in iron deficient children (Nyakeriga et al., 2004). The mechanism behind this observation remains unknown. Therefore, understanding the relationship between iron status and alteration of malaria immunology is of great importance in helping inform efforts to manage children under five years of age suffering from both malaria and ID (Abbassia Demmouche, 2014) Additionally, few studies have shown that ID lowers response to vaccines in children but its effects on malaria vaccine responses has not been studied. With children being the main targets of the malaria vaccines that are under trial due to their high malaria burden, it is of importance to understand early how ID may affects the efficacy of these malaria vaccines. This will inform policy makers on key decisions such as whether to correct ID before vaccinating the child.

1.3 Statement of the problem

Both ID and malaria are common in sub-Saharan Africa, and the interaction between these conditions is very complex and not clearly (Nyakeriga et al., 2004). They both share a common risk group that includes children under 5 years of age. Due to the high malaria burden in children, they are a key target for the malaria vaccines that are under trial at various phases (Bejon et al., 2006, 2008). ID in children has primarily been linked with depression of maternal iron stores and increased demand of iron for growth with decreased iron intake (Cherayil, 2011; Porto & De Sousa, 2007).

ID has been associated with increased risk of infection. This could be explained by the deleterious effect that it has been shown to have on both adaptive and innate immunity. Some reports have also shown that ID may affect vaccine responses in children. This is a major concern because most vaccines are administered when children are below 5 years of age, and this is the age when about 35% of children have been shown to be ID in Kenya.

Despite the high burden of malaria and ID, few studies have investigated whether ID affects acquisition of natural immunity to malaria. Additionally, currently no malaria vaccine has yet been licensed but RTSS has been recommended for use in malaria endemic regions by the WHO (World Health Organization, 2021b) . Other malaria vaccine candidates are all at different stages of clinical trials. Currently it is not known how iron status will affect the efficacy of these malaria vaccines and therefore understanding this will be of great impact towards the development and rolling out of a malaria vaccine. In addition, understanding the relationship between iron status and alteration of malaria immunology is of great importance in helping inform efforts to manage children under five years of age suffering from both malaria and ID (Abbassia Demmouche, 2014).

1.4 Research question

I. Does iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia affect acquisition of antibodies (anti- AMA, anti-MSP1&2 and anti-schizont) to malaria infection in Kilifi County children?

II. Does iron deficiency affect malaria vaccine response in Kilifi County children?

1.5 Hypothesis

Null hypothesis: Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia does not affect acquisition of antibodies to malaria infection and malaria vaccine responses in Kilifi County children.

Alternative hypothesis: Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia influences acquisition of antibodies to malaria infection and malaria vaccine responses in Kilifi County children.

1.6 Objectives

1.6.1 General Objective

To evaluate how the iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia affects acquisition of antibodies to malaria and malaria vaccine response in Kilifi County children.

1.6.2 Specific objective

- 1. To evaluate the effect of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia acquisition of antibodies to malaria (anti- AMA, anti-MSP1&2 and anti- schizont) among children in Kilifi County.
- 2. To determine the effects of iron deficiency on malaria vaccine responses among

1.7 Scope of the study

The study focused on the effects of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on acquired malaria antibodies namely AMA1, MSP1, MSP2 and schizont. This included community children in Kilifi County recruited in the ongoing cohort evaluating the history and acquisition of natural immunity to malaria and other infections in children living in Kilifi County. The second objective was a pilot study that focused on children vaccinated with RTS,S or ME-TRAP malaria vaccine candidates. The study evaluated how iron deficiency influenced the response of the two vaccine candidates in the vaccinated children.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Iron biology and human health

Iron exists in two oxidative states the ferrous (Fe^{2+}) and ferric (Fe^{3+}) forms. Handling these two forms can be both difficult and dangerous. This is because iron is practically insoluble, both in and outside the body. Under physiologic conditions iron is readily oxidized to the insoluble ferric (Fe^{3+}) (Beard, 2001). In addition, most microbes thrive well on iron, as they need it for their replication and growth. Iron can also catalyze oxidative stress reactions that can damage proteins, lipids and nucleic acids of the host, however these oxidative stress reactions are necessary to kill invading micro-organisms (Cherayil, 2011).

ID and iron overload can have adverse effects on a variety of cell, tissue and organ functions. To overcome this challenge mammals have evolved mechanisms for precise regulation of extra- and intracellular iron levels (Cassat & Skaar, 2013). This enables them to take-up iron and utilize it safely by making use of specific protein complexes, such as transferrin, lactoferrin, ferritin and haeme proteins, while keeping iron away from microbes and not letting it take part in oxidative stress (Nairz et al., 2014). In addition to this, transferrin, which is the major iron transporting molecule is normally only partly saturated (30-40%). This ensures iron is readily bound to transferrin once it appears in the plasma (Yamanishi et al., 2003a).

2.2 Epidemiology and causes of iron deficiency

ID is defined as a condition in which there are no mobilizable iron stores and in which signs of a compromised supply of iron to tissues is note (WHO, 2015). This results from depletion of iron stores and iron absorption cannot keep pace over an extended period with the metabolic demands for iron to sustain growth and to replenish iron loss e.g. in excessive blood loss. The main causes of ID include: low intake of bioavailable iron,

increased iron requirements as a result of rapid growth, pregnancy, menstruation, and excess blood loss caused by pathologic infections, such as hook worm and whipworm causing gastrointestinal blood loss and impaired absorption of iron (Crompton & Nesheim, 2002; Larocque et al., 2005). ID mainly occurs in three sequential stages which includes depletion of iron stores, iron deficiency erythropoiesis and iron deficiency anemia. These stages can be analyzed using biochemical techniques and used in diagnosis of iron deficiency (Kotze et al., 2009).

It is thought that infants have adequate iron stores until they are 4-6 months of age obtained from the maternal transfer and small amount of iron in breast milk (Baker & Greer, 2010; Park et al., 2017). The Institute of Medicine in US estimated that the dietary iron requirements of infants through to about 6 months of age should be 0.27 mg/day, which is within the available iron levels in breast milk. After 6 months, prenatally acquired iron stores are exhausted and the demand for iron increases rapidly due to rapid growth and high nutritional demand. This iron demand rises to 11 mg/day which is way above the amount available in breast milk thus making infants vulnerable to ID (Baker & Greer, 2010).

ID affects more than 2 billion people worldwide, with IDA being one of the top causes of anemia (Kassebaum et al., 2014). ID affects both developing countries and developed countries. Worldwide, over 40% of children have ID and this may exceed 50% in developing countries (Chandra, 2002) In Kenya, Muriuki et al have reported 35 % ID in children under 5 years (Muriuki et al., 2020)

2.3 Iron homeostasis

Iron absorption from the diet takes place in the duodenum and upper jejunum. The amount of iron absorbed is dependent on the amount of iron available in the iron stores (Cassat & Skaar, 2013). In the duodenum gastric acid is produced that lowers the pH thus enabling reduction of Fe^{3+} by ferric reductases to Fe^{2+} that crosses across the apical membrane of enterocytes facilitated by divalent metal ion transporter 1 (DMT1) (Cassat

& Skaar, 2013; Nairz et al., 2014). The amount of iron obtained from the diet accounts for only about 1–2 mg of iron (Finberg, 2011). Macrophages are the main sources of iron in human body. This is obtained from the recycling of red blood cells (RBC) which occurs in the spleen and liver. This accounts for about 25-30mg of iron per day (Soe-Lin et al., 2009).

In the body iron is stored intracellularly with ferritin being the major iron storage protein which is deposited in hepatocytes and macrophages of the reticuloendothelial system (Nairz et al., 2014). Only a small amount of iron, about 0.1% of the body's iron, is found in the plasma compartment but almost all iron is bound to transferrin, transported to cells in need of iron where it is taken up into the cell by transferrin-mediated endocytosis via a cycle called transferrin cycle (Tandara & Salamunic, 2012). The transferrin cycle helps control the access of iron since individual cells can efficiently regulate the entry of iron by regulating transferrin receptor 1 (TfR1) expression according to their iron needs (Richardson et al., 2010).

Iron metabolism is tightly regulated so that the amount of iron entering the circulation from macrophages and iron absorbed from the diet are kept in balance as per body requirement (Andrews & Schmidt, 2007). This is important to help prevent the deleterious effects caused by deficiency or iron overload (Finberg, 2011). Hepcidin, a hormone produced by the liver, plays a central role in the regulation of iron homeostasis. In hyperferremia the liver is stimulated to release hepcidin which binds ferroportin (FPN) protein leading to its internalization and degradation (Nemeth & Ganz, 2009). In case of hypoferremia, hepcidin expression is decreased, resulting in higher levels of FPN which leads to an increase in circulating iron. Overexpression of hepcidin has been associated with anemia of chronic disease, while low hepcidin production results in hereditary hemochromatosis (HFE) with consequent iron accumulation in vital organs (Swinkels\ et al., 2006). A summary of iron homeostasis is shown in figure 2.1 below (Swinkels et al., 2006).



Figure 2.1: Systemic iron regulation

2.4 Pathogen iron acquisition mechanism

In case of an infection the human body withholds iron to prevent the pathogen from accessing it. However, pathogens have developed mechanisms that help them to access this sequestered iron. These mechanisms differ depending on the niche of the organism if it is intracellular or extracellular. Mechanisms used by the pathogens include production of siderophores, heme acquisition system, transferrin or lactoferrin receptors and ferric or ferrous iron transporter (Cassat & Skaar, 2013; Nairz et al., 2010)

Plasmodium is an intracellular parasite. During the blood stage the plasmodium invades the RBCs and this creates a unique opportunity for it to obtain iron from haemoglobin. Plasmodium uses haemoglobin as the source of nutrient, but this is dangerous for the parasite since haem is toxic. Plasmodium has therefore developed mechanisms to detoxify the toxic haeme that is released after the breakdown of the haemoglobin in the food vacuole where it is degraded (Shio et al., 2010). The haeme is sequestered into a pigment called hemozoin which is released into the circulation after erythrocytic rupture. The hemozoin is then phagocytosed by phagocytes where it has been shown to have immunoregulatory effects (Olivier et al., 2014).

2.5 Iron and immunity

2.5.1 Iron deficiency and immune functions

Phagocytes play an important role in protecting against invading pathogens. In an infection the phagocytes engulf the pathogen and internalize it in the phagolysosome. Phagolysosomes contain multicomponent enzymes that are activated leading to the "respiratory burst" that kills phagocytosed pathogens (Nairz et al., 2014). These enzymes require iron for their activation. Studies have shown that in patients with ID the oxidative burst is significantly decreased compared to IR controls. This is through the alteration of the formation of oxygen radicals and nitric oxide that are directed against invading pathogens (Hassan et al., 2016; Weiss, 2002). Dendritic cells play an important role in antigen presentation and priming of naïve T lymphocytes in the immune system. In *in vitro* cultures it has been shown that iron deprivation leads to undifferentiated dendritic cells that could not stimulate T cells (Kramer et al., 2002).

Humoral immunity has also been shown to be affected by iron deficiency. A study in iron deficient children reported lower IgG levels in children with ID but they reported no difference in IgA or IgM (Hassan et al., 2016). Jabara et al, showed that children with mutated transferrin receptor 1 could not express 1μ -C ϵ transcript required for immunoglobulin class switching thus leading to absence of circulating immunoglobulins (Jabara et al., 2016). Other studies have showed similar effects of ID on humoral immunity on different immunoglobulins (Abbassia, 2014; Guzikowska et al., 1989; Nyakeriga et al., 2004; Tang et al., 2006). However, others report no difference in immunoglobulin levels between the iron deficient group and IR. Two studies reported no significance difference in IgG, IgA, IgM and IgG subtypes between the iron deficient and IR group however the studies had small sample sizes (Das et al., 2014; Ekiz et al., 2005; Jabara et al., 2016).

Few studies have focused on the effects of ID on complement proteins. Sobhani et al reported that complement 4 was significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to IR children (Sobhani et al., 2011). Higher levels of serum ferritin were also reported to correlate with higher complement 3 and complement 4 levels (Galan et al., 1988).

Adaptive immunity develops over a period, may be days or weeks, following exposure to a foreign substance. It depends on the activation, proliferation and differentiation of antigen specific B and T lymphocytes (Bonilla & Oettgen, 2010). There is a tightly regulated interaction between antigen-presenting (dendritic) cells and T and Blymphocytes. This facilitates production of pathogen-specific immunologic effector pathways, generation of immunologic memory, and regulation of host immune homeostasis (Cherayil, 2011). T and B cells express surface transferrin receptor 1(sTfR1) which has been reported to be highly increased during proliferation thus indicating a higher demand for iron (Jabara et al., 2016; Porto & De Sousa, 2007). In an *in vitro* experiment it was shown that the polyclonal proliferation of human B and T lymphocytes can be inhibited by antibodies to TfR1, indicating a requirement for iron uptake during cell division (Kemp et al., 1989). Absence of TfR1 has been reported to cause a complete arrest of T cell differentiation at the triple negative (CD3-CD4- CD8-) stage, but B cell development was less affected and allowed the formation of some IgM+ cells (Ned, Swat, & Andrews, 2003). Both activated and non-activated T lymphocytes synthesize ferritin (Sousa & Salazar, 1989).

The T cell lineage has also been reported to be affected by iron imbalance, however, it is not clear why it is sensitive to iron levels. Hassan et al., reported that patients with ID had higher proportions of circulating immature T-lymphocytes (CD1a+) and lower proportions of mature T-lymphocytes (CD4+ and CD8+) compared to a healthy control group. After iron supplementation for three months, these patients' immunological parameters improved significantly especially in CD1a+ and CD71+ lymphocyte subsets, however, they did not reach the same level as the control group (Hassan et al., 2016). In another study, the mean number of total lymphocytes, CD3 and CD4 subsets, and B-

lymphocytes in children with ID were decreased compared to the IR children. Cytotoxic T cell (CD8+) activity as measured by specific cytotoxicity and cytotoxic capacity was also decreased in iron deficient children (Santos & Falcão, 1990). In contrast, an experiment using an iron-deficient mouse model showed that T- lymphocyte proliferation was not affected however, the iron-deficient mice secreted less IFN- γ than the control mice, which could be due to impaired T-lymphocyte function (Omara & Blakley, 1994). A study involving 32 children with IDA and 29 controls without IDA ranging from 6-24 months of age, found no change in T lymphocyte numbers and distribution of subgroups in cases with IDA (Ekiz et al., 2005). Thibault et al., reported a qualitative rather than a quantitative defect in cell mediated immunity (Thibault et al., 1993).

Cytokines are produced from various cells in the body such as T cells and macrophages among others (Ward et al., 2011). The interaction between iron and cytokines is complex because cytokines regulate iron homeostasis and cytokine production is also regulated by iron (Ward et al., 2011; Weiss, 2002) Jason et al reported increased interferon gamma, interleukin 6 and interleukin 8 in iron deficient children compared to the healthy control group (Jason et al., 2001). Nyakeriga et al reported similar findings but only interleukin 4 was significantly higher in iron deficient children compared to IR (Nyakeriga et al., 2005). However other studies reported lower cytokines in the iron deficient group compared to healthy controls. In two animal model studies, interferon gamma was reported to be significantly lower in the iron deficient animals compared to the controls (Kuvibidila et al., 2010; Kuvibidila & Warrier, 2004).

2.5.2 Iron deficiency and vaccine response.

Vaccine efficacy determination is essential as it helps to determine the success of the immunization program. A study giving tetanus toxoid and diphtheria vaccines to iron deficient children and controls indicated no significance difference in the increase in IgG levels two weeks after immunization in both groups (Bagchi et al., 1980). In a study by

Brussow, children vaccinated against diphtheria and tetanus reported no difference in tetanus antibodies, but diphtheria antibodies were lower in the iron deficient children (Brussow et al., 1995). Two other studies reported normal immunoglobulin titres in iron deficient children (Chandra & Saraya, 1975; Macdougall et al., 1975). However, in animal studies iron deficient animals showed a significantly lower response to the influenza vaccine compared to the control (Dhur et al., 1990).

2.6 Malaria epidemiology and life cycle.

2.6.1 Malaria epidemiology

Malaria is an important cause of illness and death in many parts of the world especially in the Sub-Saharan Africa. According to the WHO 2021 malaria report, between 2019 and 2020, estimated malaria cases increased from 213 million to 228 million, and deaths from 534 000 to 602 000 in the WHO African Region (World Health Organization, 2021a). Additionally, Africa accounted for 96% of deaths globally with 80% of all deaths in this region being among children aged under 5 years (World Health Organization, 2021a). However, despite the high percentage reported, this is likely be an underestimation due poor surveillance method used thus leading to missing out on some cases(Snow et al., 2005). Malaria is transmitted in about 97 countries worldwide. This is mainly influenced by environmental effects primarily the temperatures that determine the ability of the mosquito vector to sustain parasite development (Cowman et al., 2016). There six plasmodial species present a significant health threat for humans including *P. falciparum*, *P.ovale*, *P. malariae*, *P. vivax* and *P. knowlesi*. Plasmodium falciparum is usually considered the most important in terms of deaths (Cowman et al., 2016).

2.6.2 Malaria life cycle

Plasmodium falciparum has a complex life cycle alternating between Anopheles mosquitoes and a vertebrate. The sporozoites are introduced in the host dermis during a blood meal, where they take about 1-3 hours to exit the site relying on gliding motility and some penetrate the blood vessels to enter the blood stream while others may be

destroyed by host immune system drained by the lymphatic where they induce an immune response (Tavares et al., 2013). The sporozoites in the blood stream then transverse through the sinusoidal barrier to the liver where upon interaction with hepatocytes are converted into "invasive mode". In the hepatocytes invasion the circumsporozoite protein (CSP) which covers the sporozoites, binds to highly proteoglycans (HSPGs) thus activating the processing of the CSP (Herrera et al., 2015).

Once hepatocytes infection has been established, the sporozoites takes about 2-10 days to transform into schizonts each containing about the 40, 000 merozoites. The schizont bunds off and are released into the blood stream where they burst releasing free merozoites that invade the erythrocytes within 2 minutes. The pre-invasion involves an interaction between the erythrocyte and the parasite that leads into parasite actomycin motor-driven deformation of the host cells (Weiss et al., 2015). This step involves erythrocyte binding-like proteins (EBLs) and reticulocyte-binding protein homologs (PfRhs) of the *P. falciparum*. Although their overall function is not well defined, these proteins have been shown to be essential in the overall invasion process (Thamet al., 2012). After the deformation of the RBC the merozoite reorient so that the apical touches the RBC membrane. This involves an atypical PfRh family member called PfRh5 which forms a complex with with PfRipr (Rh5-interacting Protein) (Chen et al., 2011) and CyRPA (cysteine-rich protective antigen) (Reddy et al., 2015). The PfRh5 binds to the host basigin receptor that is essential for the merozoites invasion (Crosnier et al., 2011).

Once the erythrocytes infection is established, the merozoites undergoes cell division to for a schizont that contains about 16-32 merozoites. When the schizont is mature it causes the RBC to burst releasing the merozoites into the circulation. During schizogony in the blood stream, some parasites undergo a developmental switch which initiate them to commit to sexual developments either male or female gametocytes. It takes about 11 days for the gametocytes to mature and become infectious to mosquitoes. The transmission from human to mosquitoes occurs when a mosquito feeds on the mature gametocytes during a blood meal (Crompton et al., 2010; Joice et al., 2014).

2.7 Immunity to malaria infections.

2.7.1 General Immunity

The human body have developed various mechanisms to protect from invading pathogens. In *P. falciparum* infections both innate and adaptive immunity helps to clear the parasite (Crompton et al., 2014). After sporozoites are deposited, the infection is clinically silent and no evidence of naturally acquired immunity has been described. However, in studies using attenuated whole sporozoites sterilizing immunity was induced and was hypothesized to be due to antibodies. In animal models, the sporozoites have been shown to be drained to the lymph nodes where they interact with antigen presenting cells leading to the priming of CD8+ T cells (Crompton et al., 2014; Tran et al., 2014).

In the liver stage in humans, immunity is not naturally acquired, however artificial administration of attenuated sporozoites in animal models and humans have been shown to induce both innate and adaptive immunity. CD 4+, CD8+, natural killer cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells amongst other responses have been reported (Tran et al., 2014). Upon rupturing of the hepatocytes, thousands of merozoites are released in the peripheral blood. In the blood stage the merozoites are exposed to the immune system before they invade red blood cells. Antibodies to merozoite proteins such as AMA1, MSP and EBA have been shown to play a key role in inhibiting progression of the disease at this stage (Boyle et al., 2015;Osier et al., 2008) Additionally, cytokines produced by CD4+ T cells, macrophages, natural killer cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells play a major role in disease control. The invaded red blood cells burst to release merozoites thus inducing inflammatory substances as reviewed (Crompton et al., 2014; Tran et al., 2014). A summary of the immune response mounted against *P. falciparum* infection is shown in figure 2.1 (Crompton et al., 2014).



Figure 2.2: Plasmodium falcipa¹rum lifecycle and immune response at various stage

2.7.2 Malaria antibodies.

1

Protective immunity against clinical disease takes years to develop and requires persistent exposure to the infection. Naturally acquired immunity has been associated with decreased morbidity and mortality from malaria in older children and adults (Marsh & Kinyanjui, 2006). The protective role of antibodies in malaria infection was first demonstrated by passive transfer studies that demonstrated that human IgG antibodies can protect from blood stage parasites and reduce malaria symptoms (Garnham, 1949). However, in the absence of re-exposure the levels of malaria antibodies rapidly decrease making the immune individual or population susceptible again to malaria infections (Akpogheneta et al., 2010; Marsh & Kinyanjui, 2006). Although malaria antibodies have

18

been reported to decline more rapidly in young children, Crompton et al showed that 3year-old children had slightly higher antibody levels than 2-year old children, which suggests that small proportions of antibodies acquired by 2-year-old children persisted (Crompton et al., 2010). This has been supported by Akpogheneta et al, who also demonstrated that some antibodies persisted for >85 days in children (5-7 years) without persistent exposure to infection, while in younger children the decline was 20-30% of the initial levels. MSP2 has been shown to decrease more rapidly compared to other antibodies such as EBA175, AMA1 and MSP1. The concentrations of these antibodies were reported to increase with age with the exception of MSP1 that did not vary with age (Akpogheneta et al., 2010). However, it is not fully understood to what extent naturally acquired immunity depends upon persistent exposure (Ndungu et al., 2012)

Antibodies produced against blood stage infection play key roles in inhibiting merozoite invasion of RBCs, they arrest merozoite growth in RBCs, opsonize merozoites, interact with complement factors to inhibit invasion and promote neutrophil respiratory burst (Osier et al., 2008; Teo et al., 2016) Although it is not clear how antibodies to merozoites inhibit infection, it has been hypothesized that they inhibit receptor ligand interaction, protein processing or conformational changes that are required by merozoites to aid in invasion of red blood cells. Antibodies to MSP1, AMA1, *P. falciparum* rhoptry proteins4 (PfRH4) and EBA have been shown to inhibit *P. falciparum* from growing in *in vitro* cultures (Chiu et al., 2014; Tran et al., 2014).

Complement fixation is another mechanism exploited by antibodies to control malaria infection. This occurs mainly through the classical pathway. MSP1 and MSP2 have been shown to be the targets for these antibodies (Boyle et al., 2015). The antibody-complement mechanism leads to the formation of Membrane Attack Complexes (MAC) that cause merozoites to rapidly lyse. MAC formation has been associated with protection from malaria in children (Beeson et al., 2016; Boyle et al., 2015)

Opsonization is a mechanism by which the merozoites that are labelled with antibodies are more likely to be taken up by phagocytes. Antibodies to MSP2, MSP3 and glutamate-rich protein (GLURP) have been shown to have high opsonization activity (Mugyenyi et al., 2017; Osier et al., 2014) In longitudinal studies in Kenya and Papua New Guinea opsonic phagocytosis has been associated with protective activity against malaria and also it increases during malaria infection (Hill et al., 2013; Osier et al., 2014)

2.7.3 B cells in malaria infection

B cells have an important role in immunity due to their role in the production of antibodies. They differentiate to form memory B cells (MBCs) that boost immune response in a secondary exposure to a pathogen. Studies have shown that antibody production can be sustained through re-stimulation of MBCs by persistent antigens (Ochsenbein et al., 2000) or by non-proliferating long lived plasma cells (Kurosaki et al., 2015; Slifka & Amanna, 2014). In children because of their immature immune system and the antigenic variation of the malaria parasite, development of effective Bcells occurs after years of repeated malaria exposure (Akpogheneta et al., 2010; Soares & Weiss, 2015). Different B-cell phenotypes have been observed in malaria infection. Atypical memory B cells (aMBCs) are one of the B cell populations found in malaria endemic areas where there are repeated infections. They have been shown to produce protective immunoglobulins against malaria infection (Weiss et al., 2009). Young people in Africa have been shown to have expansion in both the total memory and transitional B-cell populations after experiencing intense infection malaria (Asito et al., 2008). Although P. falciparum antibodies may fall to undetectable levels in the absence of persistent exposure, specific memory B cells to malaria have been shown to be maintained in both continually exposed children and in those with low exposure (Bediako et al., 2016).

2.7.4 T cells in malaria infection

It has been shown that T cells have intrinsic reactivity to malaria antigens, can mediate killing of *P. falciparum* merozoites, and expand markedly *in vivo* after malaria infection in previously naïve individuals. Repeated malaria infection during childhood leads to progressive loss and dysfunction of V δ 2 (+) $\gamma \delta$ T cells that may facilitate immunological tolerance of the parasite (Jagannathan et al., 2014). CD4⁺ T-cells have been mainly associated with control of erythrocytic stage parasites, but a small number of animal studies have reported that they have a role in the pre-erythrocytic stage (Oliveira et al., 2008; Overstreet et al., 2011). Th2 CD4⁺ T-cells produce cytokines that are associated with inflammation in malaria infection. Memory CD8T cells have also been described in malaria infection induced by irradiated whole sporozoites .(Carvalho et al., 2002; Overstreet et al., 2011) Bediako et al showed that *P. falciparum*-specific CD4⁺ T cells are maintained in children in the absence of continual exposure after observing no significant difference between the proportions of CD4⁺ T cells in children from an endemic region compared to those from a low malaria region who were historically exposed (Bediako et al., 2016).

2.8 Malaria vaccines

Malaria vaccines are being developed to target the different stages of plasmodium life cycle as shown in Figure 2.2 (Draper et al., 2018). Malaria vaccine candidates are broadly classified as pre-erythrocytic, erythrocytic and transmission blocking vaccines. Pre-erythrocytic malaria vaccine candidates includes RTS,S, R21, Multiple epitope-thrombospondin-related adhesion protein (ME-TRAP) among others. RTS,S is the most advanced malaria vaccine which targets the pre-erythrocytic stage of Plasmodium falciparum infection. RTS,S is a recombinant protein-in-adjuvant vaccine containing the parasite circumsporozoite protein (CSP) fused to the hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), in the adjuvant ASO1B. It primarily induces protection via high antibody responses against the NANP repeat region of the CSP and modest CD4+ T cell (Collins et al., 2017). In the phase 3 trial that involved 15,460 children in Africa, it showed a
significant short-term protective efficacy of 46% in children and 27% in infant but waned to 28.3% and 18.3% within 48 months in children and infants, respectively (The RTSS Clinical Trials Partnership, 2014). In addition, the children that received a fourth dose, the vaccine provided significant protection against severe malaria and hospital admissions (RTS,S Clinical Trials Partnership, 2015). The World health Organization's (WHO) Strategic advisory group of Experts (SAGE) on immunization and the Malaria Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) recommended further pilot studies in a Malaria Implementation Programme (MVIP) which are being coordinated by WHO (WHO, 2018). RTS,S/AS01 pilot study aimed to assess whether routine immunization programmes can deliver the four-dose schedule effectively, if the vaccine prevents deaths, and if the safety signals such as bacterial meningitis, death of female children detected in the phase 3 trial were just chance findings (Greenwood & Doumbo, 2016; RTS,S Clinical Trials Partnership, 2015). The RTS,S, pilot study was conducted in Kenya, Malawi and Ghana in children from 6 months of age (WHO, 2019) after which recommended use of RTS,S in malaria endemic countries. ME-TRAP is another preerythrocytic malaria vaccine candidate is in the pipeline. ME-TRAP aims to confer protection against malaria infection by induction of T cells that producing interferon gamma (IFNy) The vaccine is composed of viral vectors simian adenovirus 63 (ChAd63) and Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA). In Phase I and II clinical vaccine trials, this vaccine candidate has been shown to induced high numbers of antigenspecific T-cells in humans, and upon controlled malaria infection (CHMI) of malaria naïve adults, it demonstrated 21% sterile efficacy and a delay to parasitaemia in a further 36% of vaccinees (Ewer et al., 2013). 67% reduction in malaria infection was measured in ChAd63.MVA ME-TRAP vaccinated adults in a malaria endemic region of coastal Kenya (Ogwang et al., 2015).

P. falciparum reticulocyte-binding protein homolog 5 (*Pf*RH5) is the most advanced malaria vaccines targeting the blood-stage parasite (Draper et al., 2018).. In the first clinical trial assessing RH5 antigen vaccine in UK adults, using viral vectors (the

replication-deficient chimpanzee adenovirus serotype 63 (ChAd63) and the attenuated orthopoxvirus modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA)), encoding RH5 from the 3D7 clone of P. falciparum showed that the vaccine induced greater antibodies response compared to the natural immune response observed malaria exposed Africans adults (Payne et al., 2017). The RH5 vaccine induced antibodies also exhibited cross-strain functional in GIA in vitro, targeted linear and conformational epitopes within RH5 and interestingly inhibited a key interaction within the RH5 invasion complex (Alanine et al., 2019; Payne et al., 2017). Other vaccine candidates targeting the erythrocytic stage are in the pipeline including PfAMA1, GLA-SE among others. Transmission blocking vaccine are those targeting the sexual stages do not directly prevent infection or clinical symptoms within the host, but rather impact the parasite's life cycle in the mosquito vector aiming to prevent sporozoite development in the mosquitoes and hence preventing onward transmission. There are a couple of antigens that have been identified as candidate vaccine target however most clinical trials are in their early phases. Some of these antigens include Pfs48/45, Pfs230 and Pfs25 (Draper et al., 2018; Kapulu et al., 2015).



Figure 2.3: Malaria vaccine candidates in clinical developments

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Study area

The study was conducted in Kilifi County, on the coast of Kenya. There were four cohorts, two immunology cohorts Ngerenya and Junju, and two vaccine cohorts RTSS and ME-TRAP. Junju and Ngerenya are villages located within 20 km of each other, with Junju lying on the southern side and Ngerenya on the northern side of an Indian Ocean creek. The county has a population of 1,109,735. It covers an area of 12,245.90 km2 (4,728.17 sq mi) (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics KNBS, 2009). The residents are Mijikenda people mainly farmers and fishermen. The region has two rainy seasons: the "long" rains in May–July and the "short" rains in November. RTSS and ME-TRAP are vaccine cohorts composed of community-based children in Kilifi County who were recruited to be vaccinated with RTS,S or ME-TRAP malaria vaccines respectively.



Figure 3.1: Kilifi County map showing the study cohorts

3.2 Study design

The study was nested within an ongoing rolling cohort evaluating the history and acquisition of natural immunity to malaria and other infections in children living in Kilifi County (Mwangi et al., 2005). The first objective evaluating effects of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on malaria antibodies utilizes a cross-sectional study design. Iron markers were measured at the same time point as the malaria antibodies. The second objective evaluating effects of iron deficiency on malaria vaccines response utilizes a longitudinal study design. Iron was measured at the screening time point while vaccine responses were measured at screening, 3-, 6- and 14-months post vaccination for RTSS cohort, and at screening, 1 week, 3 weeks and 6 months post vaccination in ME-TRAP cohort. Figure 3.2 shows the study summary.



Figure 3.2 Study summary schema

3.3 Study population

The study consisted of four cohorts Junju and Ngerenya (immunology cohorts) and RTSS and ME-TRAP (vaccine cohorts) as shown in Figure 3.2. Junju and Ngerenya cohorts are villages found in Kilifi County along the Kenyan Coast. The area experiences two seasonal peaks in malaria transmission (June to August and November to December) but there is low transmission throughout the year (Mwangi et al., 2005; O'Meara et al., 2008). Children residing in randomly selected households were recruited, at birth, and remained under surveillance until their 15th birthday (Mwangi et al., 2005). The RTSS cohort was the RTS, S/AS01E vaccine trial against malaria that was conducted between 2007 and 2008 and included children between 0-17 months. These children were then monitored for 8 years (Bejon et al., 2008). The ME-TRAP cohort is a vaccine trial cohort conducted in community-based children in Kilifi in between 2005 to 2006. The participating children were 1-6 years old and healthy (Bejon et al., 2006). Extensive and detailed records of the number and dates of malaria episodes for each child over the period they are enrolled in the cohort are maintained. Blood samples collected from the study participants had the plasma was separated and stored at -80 °C.

3.3.1 Inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria

All the children in the study cohort below 8 years were included in the study and those above 8 years were excluded. Children in the vaccine cohorts that were vaccinated with rabies vaccine were excluded.

3.4 Sample size calculation

Considering the specific objective one as the primary objective of the study; for iron status to affect antibody production, there should be a correlation between iron levels and malaria antibody levels; to evaluate the correlation, correlation coefficient statistic was used. Sample size was therefore calculated based on the expected correlation coefficient between iron levels and antibody levels/malaria vaccine response using the formula for correlation studies (Zou, 2012).

$$n \ge \left\{ \frac{\left[Z_{\alpha/2} + Z_{1-\beta}\right]}{C} \right\}^2 + 3$$

Where;

n is the minimum required number of children.

Z_ ($\alpha/2$) is the standard normal critical value at α -level of significance for a two-sided test (α =0.05, Z_($\alpha/2$) =1.96).

Z_ (1- β) is the standard normal critical value for 1- β power (1- β =0.80, Z_(1- β) = 0.84).

C is the effect size; C= $0.5*\ln ((1+r)/(1-r)) = 0.1$ (based on standard correlation values defined by (Moinester & Gottfried, 2014)

Based on this formula and defined parameters, a minimum of 787 samples were used for the study for each objective. However, a number greater than the minimum could be included in the study.

3.5 Sampling methods.

The study included community-based children in four cohorts: Junju, Ngerenya, ME-TRAP and RTSS. Stratified sampling with proportional allocation was used to obtain the sample for this study since the study was nested within a larger cohort. Participants were selected from each stratum (cohort) using simple random sampling. Table 3.1 summarizes the sampling procedure that was used.

Cohort	Population	Sample
Junju	702	582
Ngerenya	307	236
ME-TRAP	92	91
RTSS	383	342

 Table 3.1: Sampling procedure

3.6 Data collection

In Junju and Ngerenya (immunology cohorts) cross sectional bleeds are conducted in March each year, just before the long rains, which marks the beginning of the bi-annual malaria transmission seasons for the year. 10 ml (5 ml for children aged 6 months to 1 year) is taken from each child and is used for a full blood count, malaria blood film and immunological assays in accordance with SSC 1131 and 3149 protocols (Mwangi et al., 2005; Ndungu et al., 2015). Iron biomarkers were measured from a single crosssectional bleed based on the availability of plasma samples archived at -80^oC between 2010 and 2015. In the RTSS cohort, venous blood was drawn before administration of the first vaccine and active surveillance began 2.5 months after the vaccine and continued throughout the follow up period. Another sample was taken 3, 6 and 14 months after the first vaccine (Bejon et al., 2008). In the ME-TRAP cohort, the baseline sample was obtained before vaccination, then follow up was conducted and samples collected at one week, 3 and 6 months after vaccination (Bejon et al., 2006). The archived samples were used to measure malaria antibodies and iron markers. For the RTS,S cohort, malaria antibodies were measured in the screening sample before vaccination.

3.6.1 Iron analyses

Various iron and inflammation markers were analyzed using the methods shown in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2: Iron markers measurement

Variable	Technique of measurement
Iron	iron calorimetric assay
Transferrin	chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay
Ferritin	chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay
CRP	MULTIGENT CRP Vario assay [CRPVa]
sTFR	enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
Hepcidin	enzyme linked immunosorbent

Iron assays were performed on plasma samples collected during cross-sectional surveys and stored at -80^oC in the KWTWRP laboratory biobank. We assayed various iron biomarkers which included plasm iron (MULTIGEN iron calorimetric assay), ferritin (Chemiluminescent microparticle Immunoassay), soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR) (BioVendor RD194011100 Human sTfR ELISA), transferrin (Chemiluminescent Microparticle Immunoassay) and hepcidin (DRG Hepcidin 25 [bioactive] HS ELISA Kit). Since iron biomarkers are affected by inflammation, C-reactive protein, a marker of inflammation, was also assayed using MULTIGENT CRP Vario assay (CRPVa).

3.6.2 Malaria natural immunity antibody analysis

Anti-AMA1 and anti-MSP1 antibodies were assayed using ELISA. Briefly, the test was optimized to determine the antigen dilution that was optimal to cover the polystyrene 96-well microtiter plate (Dynex Technologies Inc). This was conducted using various dilutions of the antigen obtained via serial dilution. Serum antibodies to purified recombinant *P. falciparum* (Glutathione S transferase fusion proteins) antigens have been previously described (Osier et al., 2008). IgG was measured towards a panel of merozoite antigens using recombinant antigen homologues to 3D7. Previous studies

have shown that antigen encoded by the 3D7 genotype are well recognized across the globe in different populations (Fowkes et al., 2010)

Procedure:

For the Junju and RTSS cohorts AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies were analyzed in duplicate. Sera from unexposed individuals (n=5) in the United Kingdom (UK) and positive controls obtained from Pooled hyperimmune serum (PHIS) (n=1) were run in each plate. One phosphate buffered saline (PBS) blank was included in each plate as a plate control to allow for the standardization of values thus accounting for any plate to plate variation.

Individual wells of Dynex Immunolon 4HBX ELISA plate (Dynex Technologies Inc.) were coated with 1 μ g/ml recombinant *P. falciparum* antigen per 100 μ l of carbonate coating buffer. Plates were incubated overnight at 4^oC and washed the next morning three times in PBS-Tween (PBS-0.05% Tween 20). They were then blocked for 3 hours at room temperature with 1% skimmed milk in PBS-Tween (blocking buffer), washed again 3 times in PBS-Tween and this was then followed by incubation overnight with 100 μ of test serum (1/1,000 dilution in blocking buffer). Plates were then washed six times and incubated for 3 hours at room temperature with 100ul of horseradish peroxidase-conjugate rabbit ant-human IgG (Dako Ltd) at a 1/5,000 dilution in blocking buffer followed by six times final wash. A reaction was detected using OPD (ophenylenediamine) dihydrochloride substrate (sigma) 100 µl per well. The reaction was stopped with 25ul of 2M H₂SO₄ per well, and absorbance was read at 492nm. To generate standard units of specific IgG reactivity additional wells were coated with purified myeloma-derived human IgG (MIG) (The Binding Site, United Kingdom) that were serially diluted. The optical density (OD) obtained from MIG were used to generate a standard curve that was interpolated to calculate the individual antibody concentration. IgG antibodies against whole P. falciparum schizont extract and against the 3 AMA1 alleles (3D7, W2mef and HB3) and 2 MSP2 alleles (3D7 and FC27) were assayed by standard enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in the Ngerenya cohort as previously described (Mugyenyi et al., 2013)

3.6.3 CS antibodies ELISA assays for RTS,S/AS01E vaccine

ELISA was used to measure the antibodies to *P. falciparum* circumsporozoite repeat region (anti-CS antibodies) in RTS,S/AS01E malaria vaccinated children. The anti-CS antibodies were analyzed at screening, 3 months, 6 months and 14 months after vaccination. The ELISA plates were adsorbed with the recombinant antigen R32LR that contains the sequence [NVDP (NANP)15]2LR. This assay was conducted at the Centre for Vaccinology (CEVAC; Ghent, Belgium) as described by Bejon et al and Olotu et al. The results were reported in EU/ml (Bejon et al., 2008; Olotu et al., 2013).

3.6.4 ELISpot assays for ME-TRAP vaccine response

ELISpots used Millipore MAIP S45 plates and Mab Tech antibodies according to the manufacturer's instructions for the ME-TRAP malaria vaccinated children. The *ex vivo* assay was used to measure the circulating PBMCs that were producing IFN γ . In *ex vivo* experiments freshly isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were incubated with peptide for 18-20 hours before developing. The peptides used were multiple epitope (ME) string and thombospondin-related adhesion protein (TRAP) peptides that were pooled together as described by Bejon et al (Bejon et al., 2006). The spot forming cells were counted by enzyme-linked immunosorbent spots (ELISPOTs) plate reader (Autoimmun Diagnostika, version 3.0). Non- recombinant vaccinia (Westrn Reserve/ WR strain) was added to the wells at a ratio of 3 plaques forming unit (pfu) per PBMC to help measure anti-vector immunity. Phytohaemagglutinin (20 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) was used as the positive control while PBMC cultured in media alone were used as negative controls.

Cultured ELISPOTs was used to measure the resting PBMCs that were capable of producing IFN γ upon stimulation. In cultured ELISPOTs, PBMCs were incubated with TRAP and ME string peptides in a 24 well plate. On the 3rd and 7th day, 250ul of culture supernatant was replaced with an equal amount of fresh culture medium

containing 210IU/ml recombinant IL 2. On the 9th day the cells were washed three times and left overnight before performing the ELISpot assay (Bejon et al., 2006)

3.7 Case definitions

ID was defined using two definitions a) low ferritin as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation (CRP > 5mg/L) in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years (Atkinson et al., 2014; WHO, 2015) b) transferrin saturation (TSAT) <10% (calculated as iron in μ mol/L / (transferrin in g/L x 25.1) x 100) (Yamanishi, Iyama, Yamaguchi, Kanakura, & Iwatani, 2003b). Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years while IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia (World Heath Organization, 2001) The malaria exposure index estimates a distance-weighted local prevalence of malaria infection within a kilometer radius around an index child. The malaria exposure index had previously been calculated (Olotu et al., 2012). IR was used to define children that did not fall in the ID category.

3.8 Data managements and statistical analysis

Data obtained from the laboratory and the KDHSS were stored in password-protected MS Excel spread sheet. Data analyses were conducted using STATA version 15.0 for Windows (StatCorp. College Station, TX). The difference in geometric means of antibody levels between the iron deficient and IR children was determined using two-tailed Student t-test. For univariable model and multivariable models, iron biomarkers (except haemoglobin) and malaria antibodies were log transformed to assume normal distribution. Multiple linear regression models were used to estimate the effect of ID on natural immunity to malaria, adjusting for sex, age, inflammation and malaria exposure index. All tests were performed at 95% level of confidence. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

Multiple linear regression model

The model we used took the following form:

$$Y = \boldsymbol{\beta}_0 + \boldsymbol{\beta}_1 X_1 + \boldsymbol{\beta}_2 X_2 + \dots + \boldsymbol{\beta}_P X_P$$

Where;

Y – the outcome variable i.e. malaria antibody level

 β_i – partial regression coefficient – average effect of X_i (predictor) on Y (outcome), adjusting for the other predictors.

 X_i – Predictors e.g. iron status, age

 β_0 – regression intercept – average antibody level in the absence of all predictors.

Re-writing the above model using variables from our data:

 $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{Iron status} + \beta_2 \text{age} + \beta_3 \text{sex} + \beta_4 \text{cohort} + \beta_5 \text{malaria episodes (exposure index)}$

3.9 Ethical considerations

The study received ethical approval from the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) Ethical Review Committee (KEMRI/SERU/CGMR-C/046/3257). Written informed consent was obtained from the parent/ guardian of all the children before being allowed in the study, which also allowed storage, shipment and testing of bio-samples in future studies. All procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and Good Clinical and Laboratory Practices.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Effects of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on acquisition of malaria antibodies

4.1.1 Participant's characteristics

Total of 1160community-based children from RTSS, Ngerenya and Junju were included in this study. Table 4.1 shows the summary of the study participants' characteristics. Gender was evenly distributed between groups based on iron status. The RTSS cohort had the youngest children with a median age of 12.6 (range, 9.1-16.8) months, while Ngerenya had the oldest children with a median age of 48.7 (range, 26.3-67.8) months. Children in the RTSS cohort had the least exposure to malaria with a median of 0.09 (range, 2.17⁻¹⁴-0.32) compared to Junju and Ngerenya children as shown in the Table 4.1. Using the low ferritin definition, the prevalence of ID was 20% (111/552) in Junju, 46% (153/335) in RTSS and 56% (134/236) in Ngerenya. Using the low TSAT definition, the prevalence of ID was 40% (220/554) in Junju and 61% (205/335) in RTSS (not available for Ngerenya). Anemia prevalence was 62% (332/516) in Junju and 44% (36/81) in Ngerenya (Hb not available for RTSS). Prevalence of IDA was 18% (90/488) in Junju and 31% (25/81) in Ngerenya (not available for RTSS cohort). Age, inflammation and *P. falciparum* parasitemia were associated with a significant increase in malaria antibodies (Table 4.2).

	Junju (n=582)	RTSS (n=342)	Ngerenya (n=236)
	no./total %	no./total %	no./total %
Median age months (IQR)	27.7 (19.0, 51.7)	12.6 (9.1-16.8)	48.7 (26.3, 67.8)
Sex: Females	284/582 (48.8)	168/342 (49.1)	103/236 (43.64)
Inflammation ^a	180/564 (31.9)	95/339 (28.02)	22/236 (9.3)
Malaria parasitemia	202/582 (34.7)	3/152 (0.01)	18/124 (14.5)
Median exp ind (IQR)	0.5 (6.16 ⁻¹¹ , 0.75)	0.09 (2.17 ⁻¹⁴ , 0.32)	0.5 (0.29, 0.71)
Iron deficiency ^b			
Low ferritin	111/552 (20.0)	153/335 (45.7)	134/236 (56.8)
TSAT<10%	220/554 (39.7)	205/335 (61.2)	n/a
Anaemia ^c	322/516 (62.4)	n/a	36/81 (44.4)
IDA ^d	90/488 (18.4)	n/a	25/81 (30.9)
Biomarkers	n (gmean (95% CI))	n (gmean (95% CI))	n (gmean (95% CI))
Ferritin (µg/L)	552 (32.68 (30.02; 35.58))	335 (17.41 (15.70; 19.30))	236 (18.49 (16.26; 21.03)
Hepcidin (µg/L)	546 (7.01(6.35; 7.73))	298 (5.70 (4.92; 6.58))	236 (3.77 (3.03; 4.68))
sTfR (mg/L)	573 (18.22 (17.58; 18.87))	339 (18.04 (17.35; 18.67))	232 (49.56 (47.28; 51.95))
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	516 (10.15 (10.00; 10.30))	n/a	81 (10.29 (9.96; 10.63))
TSAT (%)	568 (2.65 (2,60-2.70))	337 (2.87 (2.81; 2.92))	n/a

Table 4.1: Participant's characteristics

IQR; interquartile range, Median exp ind; median malaria exposure index, TSAT; transferrin saturation, IDA; Iron deficiency anemia, sTfR; soluble transferrin saturation

^a Inflammation was defined as C-reactive protein > 5mg/L

^b Iron deficiency was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10% (not available for (n/a) Ngerenya cohort).

^c Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years (hemoglobin not available for (n/a) RTSS cohort and in Ngerenya available for 81 children only)

^d Iron deficiency anaemia was defined as low ferritin and anaemia (not available for (n/a) RTSS cohort)

Iron biomarker	n	coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	P value
AMA1				
Sex: female	924	0.01	-0.01; 0.04	0.19
Age in months	924	8.64	7.89; 9.29	< 0.001
Inflammation	903	0.04	0.02; 0.07	< 0.001
Mal exp index	833	-0.002	-0.02; 0.02	0.84
Parasitemia	734	0.15	0.13; 0.17	< 0.001
MSP1				
Sex: female	924	0.01	-0.01; 0.04	0.33
Age in months	924	6.04	5.20; 6.88	< 0.001
Inflammation	903	0.04	0.01; 0.06	0.002
Mal exp index	833	0.01	-0.01; 0.03	0.33
Parasitemia	734	0.11	0.08; 0.13	< 0.001

Table 4.2: Univariable linear regression showing the association between covariatesand AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies for the Junju and RTSS cohorts

Mal exp index: Malaria exposure index, parasitemia

4.1.2 Combined cohorts (RTSS and Junju)

Since RTSS and Junju cohort were assayed using the same protocols for iron markers and malaria antibodies, they were combined to obtain an overall effect of ID and IDA on malaria antibodies. In the combined cohort geometric means of AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies were significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to IR children using low ferritin and low TSAT definitions. Children with IDA had significantly lower AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies, however, anemic children had non-significantly lower compared to the non-anemic children as shown in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.3 for individual cohorts (RTSS and Junju).



Figure 4.1: Box plot showing the geometric mean AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies by ID, IDA and anemia

Iron deficiency was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anaemia; apical merozoite antibodies 1, MSP1; Merozoite surface protein 1, IDA; iron deficiency anaemia. P value was calculated using student t test. *** P < 0.001, ns; not significant

Antibody	Iron status	n	Geometric mean	[95% Conf. Interval]	P value
Junju cohort					
ID, low ferritin					
AMA1	Replete	441	0.68	0.59; 0.78	< 0.001
	Deficient	111	0.15	0.12; 0.19	
MSP1	Replete	441	0.45	0.40; 0.51	< 0.001
	Deficient	111	0.15	0.11; 0.19	
ID, TSAT<10%					
AMA1	Replete	334	0.70	0.60; 0.82	< 0.001
	Deficient	220	0.30	0.25; 0.37	
MSP1	Replete	334	0.45	0.39; 0.52	< 0.001
	Deficient	220	0.27	0.22; 0.33	
IDA					
AMA1	Replete	412	0.57	0.49; 0.66	< 0.001
	Deficient	91	0.13	0.11; 0.17	
MSP1	Replete	412	0.42	0.37; 0.48	< 0.001
	Deficient	91	0.14	0.11; 0.18	
Anemia					
AMA1	Replete	168	0.49	0.39; 0.62	0.32
	Deficient	365	0.43	0.36; 0.50	
MSP1	Replete	168	0.39	0.32; 0.48	0.21
	Deficient	365	0.33	0.29; 0.38	
RTSS cohort					
ID, low ferritin					
AMA1	Replete	182	0.14	0.12; 0.15	0.21
	Deficient	153	0.12	0.11; 0.14	
MSP1	Replete	182	0.18	0.15; 0.21	0.23
	Deficient	153	0.16	0.13; 0.19	
ID, TSAT<10%					
AMA1	Replete	130	0.13	0.12; 0.15	0.39
	Deficient	205	0.12	0.11; 0.14	
MSP1	Replete	130	0.17	0.14; 0.21	0.98
	Deficient	205	0.17	0.15; 0.20	

Table 4.3 : Geometric means of AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies by iron deficiency as defined by low ferritin, low TSAT, IDA and anemia for individual cohorts

ID; Iron deficiency: ID was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin < 12μ g/L or < 30μ g/L in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or < 15μ g/L in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia. P value calculated using T test. In RTSS cohort IDA and anemia is not evaluated because hemoglobin measurements were not available

In further analyses using unadjusted linear regression models, there was a significant association between ID (as defined by low ferritin) and AMA1 (β -1.16, 95% CI -1.16; -0.97, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.83, 95% CI -1.02; -0.64, p < 0.001) antibodies indicating that ID is associated with lower concentrations of malaria antibodies (Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3 respectively). Low TSAT <10% was significantly associated with lower AMA1 (β -0.81, 95% CI -0.99; -0.62, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.45, 95% CI - 0.63; -0.28, p < 0.001) antibody concentrations compared to children with TSAT>10%. Children with IDA had significantly lower AMA1 (β -1.44, 95% CI -1.77; -1.11, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -1.10, 95% CI -1.41; -0.80, p < 0.001) antibodies compared to children without IDA. While anemic children had non-significantly lower AMA1 (β - 0.14, 95% CI -0.43; 0.14, p = 0.32) and MSP1 (β -0.17, 95% CI -0.43; 0.09, p = 0.20) compared to non-anemic children. Ferritin, Hb, TSAT and hepcidin showed significant positive associations with AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies indicating an increase in these iron biomarkers leads to an increase in malaria antibodies (Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3 respectively).



Figure 4.2: Forest plot showing the unadjusted association between AMA1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts).

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anaemia; transferrin saturation <10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors



Figure 4.3: Forest plot showing the unadjusted association between MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts).

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anaemia; transferrin saturation <10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors

Age, sex, inflammation, study site and malaria exposure were possible confounders in this study. Linear regression models were fitted adjusting for these confounders. In an adjusted model antibody levels to AMA1 (β -0.42, 95% CI -0.59; -0.25, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.40, 95% CI -0.60; -0.20, p < 0.001) were significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to IR children Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5 respectively). However, using a low TSAT definition, only antibodies to AMA1 (β -0.21, 95% CI -0.36; -0.05, p = 0.008) remained significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children. IDA was also associated with significantly lower AMA1 (β -0.57, 95% CI - 0.85; -0.28, p < 0.001) and MSP1 (β -0.64, 95% CI -0.97; 0.32, p < 0.001) antibodies in children with IDA compared to those without IDA. Anemic children had lower levels of AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies compared to non-anemic children, but this was not significant (Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5 respectively).



Figure 4.4: Forest plot showing the adjusted association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts).

Confounders adjusted for included: age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index. Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anaemia; transferrin saturation <10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors



Figure 4.5: Forest plot showing the adjusted association between MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the combined cohort (Junju and RTSS cohorts).

Confounders adjusted for included: age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index. Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anaemia; transferrin saturation <10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors

Individual cohorts i.e., Junju cohort and RTSS cohorts showed similar results to the combined cohorts indicating lower AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies in children with ID and IDA, but this was only significant for the Junju cohort (Table 4.4 and 4.5).

Table 4.4: Linear regression (unadjusted and adjusted) showing the association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the Junju cohort

		Unadjusted					Adjusted
Iron biomarker	n	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value
ID, Low ferritin	I						
LogAMA1	552	-1.52	-1.81; -1.22	< 0.001	-0.62	-0.90; -0.35	< 0.001
LogMSP1		-1.14	-1.41; -0.86	< 0.001	-0.68	-0.98; -0.37	< 0.001
ID, TSAT<10%	,						
LogAMA1	554	-0.84	-1.09; -0.59	< 0.001	-0.19	-0.42; 0.04	0.10
LogMSP1		-0.50	-0.74; -0.26	< 0.001	-0.13	-0.38; 0.13	0.32
IDA							
LogAMA1	488	-1.49	-1.81; -1.15	< 0.001	-0.57	-0.86; -0.27	< 0.001
LogMSP1		-1.12	-1.41; -0.82	< 0.001	-0.64	-0.96; -0.31	< 0.001
Anemia							
LogAMA1	516	-0.24	-0.53; 0.05	0.10	0.15	-0.08; 0.38	0.20
LogMSP1		-0.21	-0.47; -0.82	0.12	-0.01	-0.27; -0.31	0.91
Log ferritin							
LogAMA1	552	0.71	0.60; 0.82	< 0.001	0.29	0.17; 0.42	< 0.001
LogMSP1		0.44	0.33; 0.55	< 0.001	0.27	0.13; 0.40	< 0.001
Log TSAT							
LogAMA1	554	0.81	0.61; 1.01	< 0.001	0.22	0.03; 0.40	0.02
LogMSP1		0.52	0.33; 0.71	< 0.001	0.16	-0.05; 0.37	0.13
Log hepcidin							
LogAMA1	546	0.39	0.28; 0.49	< 0.001	0.12	0.03; 0.22	0.01
LogMSP1		0.28	0.18; 0.38	< 0.001	0.15	0.04; 0.26	0.01
Hb							
LogAMA1	516	1.83	1.05; 2.62	< 0.001	0.07	-0.58; 0.72	0.83
LogMSP1		1.14	0.43; 1.87	0.002	0.18	-0.55; 0.91	0.63
Log sTfR							
LogAMA1	573	-0.22	-0.52; 0.07	0.13	0.11	-0.14; 0.35	0.41
LogMSP1		-0.04	-0.31; 0.23	0.76	0.06	-0.22; 0.33	0.70

Adjusted for; age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index. ID; Iron deficiency: ID was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation(TSAT) < 10%; Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia: log transferrin saturation, log sTfR: log soluble transferrin receptors; Hb: hemoglobin

Table 4.5: Linear regression (adjusted and unadjusted) showing the association between AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the RTSS cohort

			Unadjusted			Adjusted	
Iron biomarker	n	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value
ID, Low ferritin							
LogAMA1	335	-0.10	-0.27; 0.06	0.21	-0.01	-0.19; 0.16	0.89
LogMSP1		-0.15	-0.39; 0.09	0.23	0.05	-0.20; 0.30	0.69
ID, TSAT<10%							
LogAMA1	335	-0.07	-0.23; 0.09	0.39	-0.07	-0.24; 0.11	0.45
LogMSP1		-0.003	-0.25; 0.24	0.98	-0.05	-0.30; 0.20	0.67
Log ferritin							
LogAMA1	335	0.03	-0.06; 0.11	0.52	-0.001	-0.20; 0.09	0.99
LogMSP1		0.12	-0.01; 0.24	0.07	0.03	-0.11; 0.17	0.67
Log TSAT							
LogAMA1	335	0.05	-0.10; 0.19	0.52	-0.01	-0.17; 0.15	0.87
LogMSP1		0.03	-0.19; 0.25	0.78	-0.04	-0.27; 0.19	0.74
Log hepcidin							
LogAMA1	298	-0.03	-0.10; 0.04	0.36	-0.05	-0.12; 0.03	0.25
LogMSP1		0.08	-0.02; 0.17	0.13	0.01	-0.20; 0.12	0.84
Log sTfR							
LogAMA1	339	0.22	0.01; 0.44	0.05	0.29	0.06; 0.53	0.01
LogMSP1		0.13	-0.20; 0.45	0.44	0.30	-0.04 0.63	0.08

Adjusted for; age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index. ID; Iron deficiency, Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children > 5 years TSAT < 10%: transferrin saturation < 10%, log TSAT: log transferrin saturation, log sTfR: log soluble transferrin receptors.

4.1.3 Replication cohort

Iron deficient children had significantly lower geometric means of AMA1 (w2mef, hb3 and 3d7), MSP2 (3d7 and fc27) and schizont extract antibodies compared to iron replete in the replication cohort (Table 4.6).

Antibody	Iron status	Ν	Geometric mean	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value
					(t test)
ID, low ferritin					
AMA1 (W2mef)	Replete	102	1.91	1.62; 2.24	0.01
	Deficient	134	1.48	1.32; 1.65	
AMA1 (HB3)	Replete	102	1.94	1.65; 2.27	0.01
	Deficient	134	1.51	1.35; 1.69	
AMA1 (3D7)	Replete	102	1.79	1.54; 2.09	0.01
	Deficient	134	1.42	1.28; 1.57	
MSP2 (3D7)	Replete	102	2.07	1.76; 2.44	0.002
	Deficient	134	1.54	1.38; 1.70	
MSP2 (FC27)	Replete	102	1.81	1.56; 2.10	0.01
	Deficient	134	1.41	1.28; 1.56	
Schizont	Replete	102	2.05	1.85; 2.27	< 0.001
	Deficient	131	1.61	1.49; 1.74	
IDA					
AMA1 (W2mef)	Replete	56	2.00	1.61; 2.48	0.0001
	Deficient	25	1.05	1.00; 1.09	
AMA1 (HB3)	Replete	56	2.00	1.63; 2.46	0.0001
	Deficient	25	1.07	0.98; 1.15	
AMA1 (3D7)	Replete	56	1.84	1.51; 2.24	0.0003
	Deficient	25	1.04	1.00; 1.08	
MSP2 (3D7)	Replete	56	2.06	1.64; 2.59	0.01
	Deficient	25	1.26	1.10; 1.43	
MSP2 (FC27)	Replete	56	1.68	1.40; 2.01	0.004
	Deficient	25	1.10	1.02; 1.19	
Schizont	Replete	56	2.02	1.77; 2.30	< 0.0001
	Deficient	25	1.30	1.20; 1.42	
Anemia					
AMA1 (W2mef)	Replete	45	1.93	1.53; 2.44	0.02
	Deficient	36	1.33	1.08; 1.63	
AMA1 (HB3)	Replete	45	1.95	1.56; 2.43	0.02
	Deficient	36	1.33	1.08; 1.65	
AMA1 (3D7)	Replete	45	1.77	1.43; 2.19	0.03
	Deficient	36	1.30	1.06; 1.58	
MSP2 (3D7)	Replete	45	2.12	1.64; 2.73	0.02
	Deficient	36	1.42	1.16; 1.73	
MSP2 (FC27)	Replete	45	1.68	1.37; 2.06	0.03
	Deficient	36	1.25	1.07; 1.46	
Schizont	Replete	45	2.05	1.78; 2.36	0.001

 Table 4.6: Geometric means of AMA1 alleles, MSP2 alleles and schizonts by low ferritin, IDA and anemia in Ngerenya cohort

Deficient	36	1.47	1.29; 1.67

ID; Iron deficiency: ID was defined as Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia: log transferrin saturation, log sTfR: log soluble transferrin receptors. P values calculated using t test

In an unadjusted model ID, IDA and anaemia were significantly associated with lower antibodies to AMA1 alleles (w2mef, hb3 and 3d7), MSP2 alleles (3d7 and fc27) and schizont extract. Ferritin and sTfR were also positively associated with AMA1 alleles, MSP2 alleles and schizont extract antibodies (Table 4.6). After adjusting for confounders (age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index), IDA was significantly associated with lower antibodies to AMA1w2mef (β -0.41, 95% CI -0.79; -0.03, p = 0.034), AMA1 hb3 (β -0.44, 95% CI -0.83; -0.07, p = 0.022) and AMA13d7 (β -0.38, 95% CI -0.74; 0.02, p = 0.039) and schizont extract (β -0.27, 95% CI -0.52; -0.03, p = 0.029) compared to children without IDA. ID and anemia were also associated with lower malaria antibodies, but this was not significant (Table 4.7).

		Unadjusted			Adjusted		
Iron biomarker	n	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	P value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	P value
ID, Low ferritin							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	236	-0.26	-0.44, -0.07	0.01	-0.15	-0.35; 0.05	0.14
LogAMA1(HB3)	236	-0.25	-0.44, -0.06	0.01	-0.13	-0.33; 0.07	0.20
LogAMA1 (3D7)	236	-0.24	-0.41, -0.06	0.01	-0.15	-0.33; 0.04	0.13
LogMSP2 (3D7)	236	-0.30	-0.48, -0.11	0.002	-0.14	-0.34; 0.06	0.17
LogMSP2 (FC27)	236	-0.25	-0.42, -0.08	0.01	-0.09	-0.28; 0.10	0.36
Logschizont	233	-0.24	-0.36, -0.12	< 0.001	-0.12	-0.25; 0.01	0.06
IDA							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	81	-0.65	-0.97; -0.33	< 0.001	-0.41	-0.79; -0.03	0.03
LogAMA1(HB3)	81	-0.63	-0.94; 0.32	< 0.001	-0.44	-0.83; -0.07	0.02
LogAMA1 (3D7)	81	-0.57	-0.87; -0.27	< 0.001	-0.38	-0.74; -0.02	0.04
LogMSP2 (3D7)	81	-0.50	-0.85; -0.15	0.01	-0.17	-0.60; -0.26	0.44
LogMSP2 (FC27)	81	-0.42	-0.70; -0.14	0.003	-0.32	-0.67; 0.03	0.08
Logschizont	81	-0.44	-0.64; -0.23	< 0.001	-0.27	-0.52; -0.03	0.03
Anaemia							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	81	-0.37	-0.69; -0.06	0.02	-0.11	-0.45; 0.22	0.51
LogAMA1(HB3)	81	-0.38	-0.69; -0.07	0.02	-0.15	-0.49; 0.18	0.36
LogAMA1 (3D7)	81	-0.31	-0.61; -0.02	0.04	-0.09	-0.41; 0.23	0.58
LogMSP2 (3D7)	81	-0.40	-0.73; -0.07	0.02	-0.11	-0.48; 0.26	0.55
LogMSP2 (FC27)	81	-0.29	-0.56; -0.03	0.03	-0.16	-0.47; 0.15	0.30
Logschizont	81	-0.34	-0.53; -0.14	0.001	-0.18	-0.40; 0.03	0.09
Log ferritin							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	236	0.05	-0.04, 0.16	0.21	0.06	-0.04; 0.15	0.23
LogAMA1(HB3)	236	0.06	-0.04, 0.16	0.21	0.05	-0.04; 0.15	0.27
LogAMA1 (3D7)	236	0.05	-0.04, 0.14	0.26	0.05	-0.04; 0.14	0.25
LogMSP2 (3D7)	236	0.15	0.05, 0.24	0.002	0.12	0.03; 0.21	0.01
LogMSP2 (FC27)	236	0.12	0.04, 0.21	0.01	0.08	-0.01; 0.17	0.08
Logschizont	227	0.09	0.03, 0.15	0.01	0.07	0.01; 0.13	0.03
Log sTfR							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	230	0.21	-0.05, 0.47	0.11	0.20	-0.05; 0.44	0.12
LogAMA1(HB3)	230	0.25	-0.01, 0.51	0.06	0.23	-0.01; 0.48	0.06
LogAMA1 (3D7)	230	0.19	-0.05, 0.44	0.12	0.17	-0.06; 0.40	0.14
LogMSP2 (3D7)	230	0.20	-0.06, 0.46	0.13	0.21	-0.04; 0.46	0.09
LogMSP2 (FC27)	230	0.13	-0.11, 0.37	0.27	0.17	-0.07; 0.40	0.16
Logschizont	227	0.13	-0.04, 0.31	0.14	0.12	-0.04; 0.29	0.14
Log hepcidin							
LogAMA1 (W2mef)	236	-0.03	-0.09, 0.02	0.23	-0.01	-0.07; 0.04	0.65
LogAMA1(HB3)	236	-0.03	-0.09, 0.03	0.29	-0.01	-0.06; 0.05	0.78
LogAMA1 (3D7)	236	-0.04	-0.09, 0.02	0.16	-0.02	-0.07; 0.04	0.56
LogMSP2 (3D7)	236	-0.05	-0.10, 0.01	0.09	-0.03	-0.09; 0.02	0.24

Table 4.7: Linear regression (adjusted and unadjusted) showing the association between AMA1 alleles, MSP 2 alleles and schizont antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers in the Ngerenya cohort

LogMSP2 (FC27)	236	-0.02	-0.07, 0.03	0.50	-0.02	-0.07; 0.03	0.45
Logschizont	230	-0.02	-0.06, 0.01	0.24	-0.01	-0.05; 0.03	0.61

ID; Iron deficiency: ID was defined as Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia: log transferrin saturation, log sTfR: log soluble transferrin receptors

4.2 Effect of ID on malaria vaccine responses

4.2.1 Participant's characteristics

In the RTSS vaccine cohort, 115 children were included in the study. The median age was 10.6 (IQR 7.6-14.4) months. Malaria exposure index was low with a median of 0.072 (IQR 0.00-0.26), however malaria parasitemia data was not available for the children. ID as defined by low ferritin was 44% (50/115), and using a TSAT <10% definition, 62% (71/115). Anemia and IDA data was not available for the RTSS cohort since hemoglobin data was not available.

In the ME-TRAP cohort 91 children were included in the study. The median age for the children was 41.5 (range 26.5-56.2) months. 65% of the children had malaria parasitemia and the malaria exposure index median was 0.33 (range 1.49^{-11} -0.67). Using a low ferritin definition 8% (7/84) (for 7 children ferritin data was not available) were iron deficient while using TSAT <10% 35% (32/91) was iron deficient. 73% (66/90) of the children were anemic while IDA was at 8%. Gender was evenly distributed among the study participants in the two cohorts. Table 4.8 shows a summary of the study participants in the vaccine cohorts.

	RTSS	ME-TRAP
	no./total %	no./total %
Median age months (IQR)	10.6 (7.6-14.4)	41.5 (26.5-56.2)
Sex: Female	55/115 (47.8)	42/91 (46.2)
Inflammation	37/114 (32.5)	34/90 (37.8)
Malaria parasitemia	Na	59/91 (64.8)
Exposure Index (IQR)	0.072 (0.00-0.26)	0.33 (1.49-11-0.67)
Iron deficiency		
Low ferritin	50/115 (43.5)	7/84 (8.3)
TSAT<10%	71/115 (61.7)	32/91 (35.2)
Anemia	na	66/90 (73.3)
IDA	na	7/83 (8.4)
Iron biomarkers	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)
Ferritin, µg/L	18.7 (8.8-38.5)	56.2 (35.9-93.8)
Hepcidin, µg/L	8.8 (3.1-19.1)	9.7 (4.3-17.9)
sTfR, mg/L	17.7 (14.7-21.8)	18.3 (14.2-24.9)
Transferrin saturation (%)	8.9 (6.0-13.6)	12.3 (8.8-17.8)
Hb	na	10.5 (9.4-11.2)

Table 4.8: Participant's characteristics

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%; Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia; transferrin saturation <10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors; Hb; hemoglobin, IQR: interquartile range, na: not available

4.2.2 RTSS vaccine cohort

The circumsporozoite antibodies induced by the RTS,S/AS01E vaccine were non significantly lower in the iron deficient children compared to IR except at 3 months after vaccination using both low ferritin and low transferrin saturation definition shown in Table 4.9

Timepoint	Iron status	n	Geometric mean	[95% Conf. Interval]	P value (t test)
ID, low ferritin					
Screening	Replete	28	0.57	0.53; 0.65	0.32
	Deficient	29	0.56	0.54; 0.58	
Month 3	Replete	28	14.95	11.40; 19.62	0.93
	Deficient	29	15.13	13.62; 16.81	
Month 6	Replete	26	6.78	5.78; 7.96	0.43
	Deficient	28	6.23	5.29; 7.21	
Month 14	Replete	26	5.59	4.74; 6.60	0.09
	Deficient	28	4.63	3.98; 5.40	
ID, low TSAT					
Screening	Replete	44	0.572	0.54; 0.61	0.61
	Deficient	70	0.562	0.55; 0.58	
Month 3	Replete	44	14.869	12.41; 17.82	0.65
	Deficient	71	15.536	14.63; 16.50	
Month 6	Replete	43	6.682	5.88; 7.59	0.43
	Deficient	67	6.279	5.71; 6.90	
Month 14	Replete	41	5.335	4.64; 6.13	0.30
	Deficient	67	4.877	4.39; 5.42	

Table 4.9: Geometric means of anti-circumsporozoite antibodies by iron deficiencyas defined by low ferritin and TSAT<10%.</td>

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin < $12\mu g/L$ or < $30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or < $15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%, TSAT; transferrin saturation

In the univariate model, at screening, 6 and 14 months after vaccination, ID as defined by low ferritin was associated with lower CS antibodies in iron deficient children compared to IR and this was significant 14 months after vaccination (β -0.17, 95% CI -0.34: -0.01, p = 0.04) (Table 4.8). Similarly, low TSAT was associated with lower CS antibodies, but this was not significant. At screening timepoint an increase in ferritin and TSAT levels was significantly associated with increased CS antibodies. However, since this was before the vaccine was administered, this reaction could be due to cross reaction of the naturally acquired CS antibodies in malaria exposed individuals and doesn't represent the vaccine response (Bejon et al., 2008).After adjusting for age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index there was no association between the CS antibodies iron deficiency or iron biomarker observed as shown in Table 4.9.

		Unadjusted			Adjusted			
Timepoint	Ν	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	
ID, Low ferri	tin					-		
Screening	114	-0.02	-0.08; 0.04	0.45	-0.02	-0.09; 0.05	0.53	
Month 3	115	0.05	-0.11; 0.20	0.56	0.06	-0.12; 0.23	0.51	
Month 6	110	-0.10	-0.25; 0.05	0.21	-0.10	-0.26; 0.06	0.23	
Month 14	108	-0.17	-0.34; -0.01	0.04	-0.15	-0.33; 0.02	0.08	
ID, TSAT<10%								
Screening	114	-0.02	-0.08;0.04	0.57	-0.01	-0.08; 0.06	0.81	
Month 3	115	0.04	-0.12; 0.20	0.59	0.07	-0.10; 0.25	0.42	
Month 6	110	-0.06	-0.22; 0.09		-0.09	-0.25; 0.08	0.29	
Month 14	108	-0.09	-0.26; 0.08	0.30	-0.11	-0.29; 0.07	0.23	
Log ferritin								
Screening	114	0.03	0.01; 0.06	0.02	0.03	-0.01; 0.06	0.10	
Month 3	115	-0.03	-0.10; 0.04	0.41	-0.04	-0.13; 0.05	0.33	
Month 6	110	0.02	-0.05; 0.10	0.51	0.02	-0.06; 0.11	0.58	
Month 14	108	0.06	-0.02; 0.14	0.13	0.06	-0.03; 0.15	0.20	
Log TSAT								
Screening	114	0.06	0.001; 0.11	0.05	0.05	-0.01; 0.11	0.08	
Month 3	115	-0.04	-0.18; 0.11	0.62	-0.06	-0.23; 0.10	0.44	
Month 6	110	0.01	-0.13; 0.15	0.92	0.04	-0.12; 0.19	0.63	
Month 14	108	0.04	-0.12; 0.20	0.61	0.06	-0.11; 0.23	0.47	
Log hepcidin								
Screening	92	-0.001	-0.03; 0.03	0.95	0.0001	-0.03; 0.03	1.00	
Month 3	93	-0.05	-0.12; 0.03	0.21	-0.06	-0.14; 0.03	0.20	
Month 6	88	-0.01	-0.08;0.06	0.71	-0.02	-0.10; 0.06	0.64	
Month 14	86	-0.01	-0.09; 0.07	0.78	-0.01	-0.10; 0.07	0.81	
Log sTfR								
Screening	114	0.02	-0.05; 0.10	0.53	0.05	-0.03; 0.13	0.21	
Month 3	115	-0.04	-0.23; 0.15	0.67	-0.06	-0.28; 0.17	0.62	
Month 6	110	-0.06	-0.24; 0.13	0.56	-0.13	-0.33; 0.07	0.21	
Month 14	108	-0.14	-0.34; 0.06	0.17	-0.22	-0.44; 0.002	0.05	

 Table 4.10: Linear regression (unadjusted and adjusted) showing the association

 between circumsporozoite antibodies and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers

Adjusted for; age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index, iron deficiency (ID) was defined using two definitions: 1) Low ferritin defined as plasma ferritin $< 12\mu g/L$ or $< 30\mu g/L$ in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or $< 15\mu g/L$ in children ≥ 5 years; and 2) Transferrin saturation < 10%, log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors

4.2.3 ME-TRAP vaccine cohort

Geometric means of interferon gamma (IFN γ) producing PBMCs as assayed by culture assay were non-significantly lower in the iron deficient (as defined TSAT < 10%) children compared to the IR children (Figure 4.6). In the *ex vivo* assay the iron deficient children had non-significantly higher IFN γ producing PBMCs compared to IR children and at 6 months after vaccination this difference was significant as shown in Figure 4.6. However, geometric means of IFN γ producing PBMCs assayed by *ex vivo* assay were non-significantly lower in the anemic compared to the non-anemic children Figure 4.7. Analyses using low ferritin definition and IDA were not done since only 8 children were iron deficient using these definitions.



Figure 4.6: Box plot showing the geometric mean Interferon gamma producing PBMCs assayed by culture and ex vivo assays iron status defined by low TSAT (TSAT<10%).

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined as transferrin saturation (TSAT) < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; ** p=0.03



Figure 4.7:Box plot showing the geometric mean Interferon gamma producing PBMCs assayed by culture and ex vivo assays anemia.

Iron deficiency (ID) was defined as transferrin saturation (TSAT) < 10%; Anaemia was defined as haemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or haemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years.

Univariable and multivariable analysis of culture IFN γ producing PBMCs showed that there was no association between the IFN γ producing PBMCs and iron deficiency (low transferrin) or anemia. There was also no association between the IFN γ producing PBMCs and iron biomarkers (Table 4.11)
Table 4.11: Linear regression (unadjusted and adjusted) showing the association of interferon gamma producing PBMC's (cultured) by iron deficiency and iron biomarkers

		Unadjusted			Adjusted		
Timepoint	Ν	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value
TSAT<10%							
Screening	91	-0.05	-0.34; 0.24	0.74	-0.09	-0.40; 0.21	0.54
Vac+1 week	81	-0.15	-0.40; 0.09	0.22	-0.19	-0.46; 0.07	0.16
Vac+3 months	78	-0.13	-0.22; 0.48	0.46	0.10	-1.27; 0.46	0.60
Vac+6 months	61	-0.15	-0.48; 0.17	0.35	-0.19	-0.53; 0.16	0.28
Anaemia							
Screening	90	-0.05	-0.37; 0.26	0.74	0.002	-0.34; 0.34	0.99
Vac+1 week	80	0.16	-0.11; 0.43	0.24	0.152	-0.15; 0.45	0.31
Vac+3 months	77	0.02	-0.36; 0.39	0.93	-0.01	-0.41; 0.39	0.93
Vac+6 months	60	-0.14	-0.49; 0.20	0.41	-0.15	-0.53; 0.22	0.42
Log ferritin							
Screening	84	-0.03	-0.19; 0.13	0.72	-0.031	-0.24; 0.18	0.78
Vac+1 week	76	-0.03	-0.18; 0.12	0.68	0.032	-0.16; 0.23	0.75
Vac+3 months	70	0.03	-0.17; 0.22	0.79	0.081	-0.15; 0.31	0.49
Vac+6 months	55	0.05	-0.13; 0.22	0.62	0.062	-0.16; 0.28	0.58
Log TSAT							
Screening	91	0.11	-0.15; 0.38	0.41	0.140	-0.15; 0.43	0.34
Vac+1 week	81	0.15	-0.09; 0.38	0.21	0.180	-0.08; 0.44	0.18
Vac+3 months	78	0.18	-0.13; 0.50	0.25	0.244	-0.11; 0.60	0.17
Vac+6 months	61	0.24	-0.06; 0.54	0.11	0.291	-0.05; 0.63	0.09
Log hepcidin							
Screening	84	-0.09	-0.20; 0.03	0.15	-0.086	-0.23; 0.06	0.23
Vac+1 week	76	-0.03	-0.14; 0.08	0.55	-0.031	-0.16; 0.10	0.64
Vac+3 months	71	-0.08	-0.22; 0.07	0.31	-0.079	-0.26; 0.10	0.37
Vac+6 months	56	0.05	-0.09; 0.19	0.48	0.022	-0.13; 0.18	0.78
Log sTfR							
Screening	88	-0.04	-0.36; 0.28	0.80	0.071	-0.32; 0.47	0.72
Vac+1 week	78	-0.13	-0.42; 0.17	0.40	-0.112	-0.46; 0.24	0.53
Vac+3 months	76	-0.16	-0.59; 0.28	0.47	-0.152	-0.67; 0.37	0.56
Vac+6 months	59	-0.18	-0.55; 0.19	0.33	-0.095	-0.56; 0.37	0.68
Hb							
Screening	90	-0.002	-0.07; 0.07	0.96	0.01	-0.08; 0.10	0.86
Vac+1 week	80	-0.02	-0.09; 0.05	0.56	-0.03	-0.11; 0.05	0.40
Vac+3 months	77	0.02	-0.07; 0.11	0.61	0.03	-0.08; 0.13	0.65
Vac+6 months	60	0.04	-0.05; 0.13	0.34	0.02	-0.09; 0.13	0.72

Adjusted for; age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index, iron deficiency (ID) was defined as transferrin saturation < 10%, Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors, Hb; haemoglobin, vac; vaccination, timepoint indicate the time since the vaccination was administered.

In the *ex vivo* assay, using univariable regression model, IFN γ producing PBMCs showed no association with iron deficiency (low transferrin saturation) except at 6 months after vaccination when an association was observed. Anemia was significantly associated with lower IFN γ producing PBMCs at screening and 6 months after vaccination. Increase in ferritin was associated with lower IFN γ producing PBMCs 6 months after vaccination (Table 4.12). After adjusting for confounders (age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index), there was a significant association between iron deficiency (low transferrin saturation) and IFN γ producing PBMCs 6 months after vaccination. An increase in ferritin and TSAT levels was also significantly associated with lower IFN γ producing PBMCs 6 months after vaccination.

Table 4.12: Linear regression (adjusted and unadjusted) showing the association between interferon gamma producing PBMC's (ex vivo) and iron deficiency and iron biomarkers

		Unadjusted			Adjusted		
Timepoint	n	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value	Coefficient	[95% Conf. Interval]	p value
TSAT<10%			_				
Screening	87	-0.13	-0.41; 0.15	0.35	-0.17	-0.46; 0.12	0.25
Vac+1 week	79	-0.11	-0.39; 0.17	0.44	-0.14	-0.43; 0.15	0.34
Vac+3 months	71	0.10	-0.21; 0.42	0.52	0.15	-0.15; 0.46	0.32
Vac+6 months	63	0.30	0.03; 0.58	0.03	0.38	0.10; 0.65	0.01
Anaemia							
Screening	87	-0.31	-0.60; -0.02	0.04	-0.41	-0.72; -0.11	0.01
Vac+1 week	78	-0.14	-0.45; 0.18	0.39	-0.17	-0.49; 0.15	0.30
Vac+3 months	70	-0.06	-0.40; 0.28	0.73	-0.06	-0.41; 0.28	0.72
Vac+6 months	62	-0.31	-0.60; -0.02	0.04	-0.29	-0.61; 0.03	0.07
Log ferritin							
Screening	80	-0.06	-0.23; 0.10	0.44	-0.04	-0.24; 0.16	0.68
Vac+1 week	73	-0.02	-0.196; 0.15	0.81	-0.03	-0.25; 0.18	0.75
Vac+3 months	64	-0.04	-0.24; 0.16	0.67	-0.11	-0.33; 0.10	0.29
Vac+6 months	57	-0.19	-0.35; -0.03	0.02	-0.23	-0.41; -0.04	0.02
Log TSAT							
Screening	87	0.06	-0.20; 0.31	0.67	0.13	-0.14; 0.40	0.34
Vac+1 week	79	0.05	-0.21; 0.31	0.70	0.09	-0.19; 0.38	0.51
Vac+3 months	71	-0.15	-0.43; 0.14	0.31	-0.15	-0.43; 0.14	0.32
Vac+6 months	63	-0.21	-0.47; 0.04	0.10	-0.33	-0.60; -0.06	0.02
Log hepcidin							
Screening	80	-0.03	-0.15; 0.09	0.62	0.01	-0.13; 0.15	0.92
Vac+1 week	73	0.04	-0.08; 0.16	0.54	0.003	-0.13; 0.14	0.97
Vac+3 months	65	0.01	-0.12; 0.14	0.89	-0.02	-0.17; 0.13	0.78
Vac+6 months	58	-0.002	-0.12; 0.12	0.97	0.01	-0.11; 0.14	0.83
Hb							
Screening	87	0.03	-0.04; 0.01	0.41	0.04	-0.05; 0.13	0.35
Vac+1 week	78	0.03	-0.04; 0.11	0.37	0.03	-0.06; 0.12	0.51
Vac+3 months	70	0.03	-0.06; 0.11	0.50	0.06	-0.03; 0.15	0.22
Vac+6 months	62	0.04	-0.03; 0.11	0.31	0.05	-0.03; 0.13	0.22
Log sTfR							
Screening	85	-0.15	-0.45; 0.16	0.35	-0.36	-0.71; -0.01	0.05
Vac+1 week	76	-0.09	-0.41; 0.24	0.59	-0.07	-0.45; 0.29	0.68
Vac+3 months	70	0.15	-0.23; 0.53	0.43	-0.05	-0.46; 0.37	0.82
Vac+6 months	61	0.02	-0.31; 0.35	0.91	0.01	-0.38; 0.39	0.98

Adjusted for; age, sex, inflammation and malaria exposure index, iron deficiency (ID) was defined as transferrin saturation < 10%, Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11g/dL in children aged 0 to 4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children above 4 years; log TSAT; log transferrin saturation, log sTfR; log soluble transferrin receptors, Hb; haemoglobin, vac; vaccination, timepoint indicate the time since the vaccination was administered

4.3 **Discussion**

4.3.1 Effects of ID on acquisition of natural immunity to malaria

Malaria and ID are major public health problems in Africa and especially in Kenya. In this study AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies were significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children in the combined Junju and RTSS cohorts using the WHO low ferritin definition. However, using ID defined by TSAT <10% only AMA1 was significant. Similar results were obtained in individual cohorts i.e., Junju cohort and RTSS cohort, however this was statistically significant in the Junju cohort only. These results were replicated in the Ngerenya cohort where antibodies to MSP2 alleles, AMA1 alleles and schizont were significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to IR using the low ferritin definition.

ID and IDA were significantly associated with lower malaria antibodies in children in the combined cohorts. This agrees with the previous study carried out by Nyakeriga et al where they reported that concentrations of malaria-specific IgG2, IgG4, and IgE and of total IgE were significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children (Nyakeriga et al., 2004) However, their study did not measure specific antibodies that have been associated with natural immunity against malaria or antibodies that are being explored for use as malaria vaccines which are the focus in the current study. In addition, they had a small sample size of 195 children while the current study has over 1000 children. There is very little data on the effects of ID on malaria immunity especially on specific malaria antibodies. To support the study conducted in humans, a study conducted in a mouse model reported that total IgG levels to *Plasmodium yoelii* were much lower in mice with induced IDA compared to the control mice with no IDA (Matsuzaki-Moriya et al., 2011) In the RTSS cohort ID was found to be non-significantly associated with low malaria antibodies, which could be due to the young age of the children in this cohort, a median age of 12.6 (IQR 9.1-16.8) months. Additionally, they had low malaria

exposure with a median malaria exposure index of 0.09 (IQR 2.17⁻¹⁴, 0.32). Data in this study show that age was strongly associated with increased malaria antibody concentrations which agrees with other studies that have reported that malaria immunity is acquired with age and exposure (Mugyenyi et al., 2017; Teo et al., 2016). Lower antibodies in iron deficient individuals have also been reported in other diseases such as pneumococcus where pneumococcal specific IgG subclasses (IgG1 and IgG2) were lower in iron deficient compared to healthy children (Feng et al., 1994). This supports our finding that ID may alter humoral response in infections.

Although there are few studies on the effects of ID on immunity to malaria, other studies have focused on the effects of ID on humoral immunity more generally. Some studies report similar findings to what we have found in this study although a few conflicts. Hassan et al., reported lower serum IgG concentrations in iron deficient children compared to healthy controls (Hassan et al., 2016). Galan et al also reported significantly lower IgG and IgA in children with severe ID compared to healthy controls but there was no significant difference between the children with mild ID and healthy controls (Galan et al., 1988). A study conducted in Algeria, showed that children with IDA had lower IgG, IgD and IgA concentrations compared to control children without IDA (Abbassia Demmouche, 2014). Studies conducted in adults have shown similar reports to that reported in children. Tang et al showed that pregnant women with IDA had lower IgG levels compared to normal pregnant women (Tang et al., 2006). A study carried out in Iran reported that ID premenopausal adult females had non-significantly lower IgG and IgA concentrations compared to heathy controls without ID (Sadeghian et al., 2010). However, a few studies have reported normal humoral immunity in ID in contrast to our results (Bagchi et al., 1980; Das et al., 2014; Thibault et al., 1993). However, these studies had small sample sizes of less than 100 participants compared to our study with over 1000 participants.

Various iron biomarkers were evaluated to investigate how they were associated with malaria antibodies. From this study higher levels of ferritin, transferrin saturation and hepcidin were associated with higher concentrations of malaria antibodies. A study by Galan et al in 10 months children agrees with our finding showing that increased ferritin increases humoral immunity (Galan et al., 1988). Atkinson et al, also showed that plasma hepcidin concentrations were strongly positively associated with antibodies to *P*. *falciparum* (Atkinson et al., 2015). Sobhani et al reported a positive correlation between iron and humoral immunity in pregnant women which agrees with our findings however, they found no significant association with ferritin levels which contrasting our findings (Sobhani et al., 2011)

4.3.2 Effects of iron deficiency on malaria vaccine responses

In the RTSS vaccinated children, the CSP antibodies induced by the RTSS vaccine were non-significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children. This agrees with previous studies that have reported lower vaccine antibody levels in children with iron deficiency. Chandar et al, reported non significantly lower tetanus and typhoid antibodies in iron deficient children compared to IR children (Chandra & Saraya, 1975). Brussow et al reported that iron deficient children vaccinated with the diptheria-pertussis vaccine had significantly lower antibodies that were below protective levels compared to iron replete children. However, for tetanus vaccine the antibodies were non-significantly lower in iron deficient children (Brussow et al., 1995). In an animal model, ID rats immunized with influenza vaccine had significantly lower vaccine responses compared to iron replete rats (Agnès Dhur et al., 1990). However, a few studies have reported similar vaccine responses in iron deficient and IR individuals (Crogan et al., 2005; Macdougall et al., 1975).

In the ME-TRAP cohort, the vaccine induced protection by stimulating IFN γ producing PBMCs post vaccination. In the *ex vivo* assay ID was associated with significantly higher IFN γ producing PBMCs compared to the iron replete group at 6 months after

vaccination. In the cultured assay there was no association observed between iron deficiency and IFN γ producing PBMCs after vaccination. This is in agreement with other studies that have reported higher IFN γ levels in iron deficient individuals. Kuvibidila et al., reported higher baseline IFN γ , in the supernatant of iron deficient spleen cells compared to iron replete control cells (Kuvibidila et al., 2010). Jayson et al also reported higher induced IFN γ in iron deficient children while spontaneous IFN γ was lower in iron deficient children compared to IR children. The study also reported that the percentage of lymphocytes producing both IFN γ and tumor necrotic factor were significantly higher in iron deficient children compared to IR children (Jason et al., 2001). In contrast with these findings, Nyakeriga et al reported that mRNA levels for IFN γ were non-significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to iron replete but this was not significant (Nyakeriga et al., 2005). In animal models, IFN γ concentrations have been reported to be significantly lower in iron deficient compared to iron replete animals (Kuvibidila et al., 2010; Kuvibidila & Warrier, 2004). The conflicting results obtained in these studies could be due to different assays used in measuring IFN γ . IFN γ was assayed using ELISPOTs in this study and in our protocol both in ex vivo and cultured assays had an induction step thus the results obtained may not be comparable to flow cytometry where ex vivo assays have no induction and ELISA where induction is not necessary.

4.3.3 Possible mechanisms via which iron deficiency might alter immunity

The results of this study showed that ID and IDA were significantly associated with low malaria specific humoral responses and lower RTS'S/AS0E vaccine responses in children. This finding indicates that ID could be affecting the immune system. We hypothesize that there may be various mechanisms through which ID could affect the immune system. Several studies have demonstrated the important role of iron in T and B cell proliferation and the generation of specific responses to infection indicating that ID alters the proliferation of these cells hence decreasing their response against infections (

Beard, 2001; Kramer et al., 2002). Thus, the low antibody concentrations observed in ID children in this study could be due to impaired B cell proliferation since for B cells to produce antibodies they have to differentiate into plasma cells and this process requires iron. T cells have also been shown to be significantly decreased in iron deficient individuals. T cells are important in B cell stimulation to antibody producing plasma cells and in the production of cytokines such as IL-2 that help in immunoglobulin class switching (Attia et al., 2009; Mullick et al., 2006). Therefore, the lower humoral response observed in iron deficient children could also be due to decreased numbers of T cells that are required in B cell stimulation to produce antibodies. Jabara et al showed that a mutation in transferrin receptors expressed in B and T cells, that helps in iron uptake, led to absence of circulating IgG due to impaired IgE class switching (Jabara et al., 2016). We hypothesize that perhaps the low malaria specific IgG in the iron deficient children could be due to insufficient iron required for immunoglobulin class switching. A fourth possible mechanism causing lower humoral responses in iron deficient children could be due to lower exposure of malaria in iron deficient children compared to IR children. This mechanism is supported by studies that have shown ID is protective against malaria infection (Muriuki et al., 2019; Nyakeriga et al., 2004). However, Feng et al reported decreased pneumococcal specific IgG subclasses (IgG1 and IgG2) in iron deficient children compared to healthy control children (Feng et al., 1994). Therefore, it is possible that the low malaria antibodies could actually be due to an effect of ID on humoral immunity.

4.4 Challenges and strength of study

One of the challenges faced in this study is that most iron markers are affected by inflammation. Additionally, natural immunity to malaria has been shown to develop over a period. This mean the older children that had been more exposed to malaria had built better immunity compared to the young children who are less exposed. To help curb this we adjusted for the child's age, inflammation and malaria exposure index in the linear regression models. The limitation in this study was that transferrin saturation data

for the Ngerenya was not available thus analysis was only done using low ferritin definition. In ME-TRAP vaccine cohort only 8 participants were deficient using low ferritin definition thus analysis was done using low TSAT definition. Some iron markers were also not available for all cohorts. The strength of our study is we had large sample size (n= 1,160 children) from cohorts with different malaria intensities thus giving a good representation. Two potential malaria vaccines that are current under different levels in trial phase (RTS'S/AS0E and FFP METRAP) were included in this study. This is the first study to assay effects of iron deficiency on these malaria vaccines. Additionally, we analyzed various iron markers that have not been analyzed in previous studies on iron deficiency and immunity

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary

Malaria and ID are major public health problems in Africa and especially in Kenya. In this study AMA1 and MSP1 antibodies were significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children in the combined Junju and RTSS cohorts using the WHO low ferritin definition. However, using ID defined by TSAT <10% only AMA1 was significant. Similar results were obtained in individual cohorts i.e., Junju cohort and RTSS cohort, however this was statistically significant in the Junju cohort only. These results were replicated in the Ngerenya cohort where antibodies to MSP2 alleles, AMA1 alleles and schizont were significantly lower in iron deficient children compared to IR using the low ferritin definition. In the RTSS vaccinated children, the CSP antibodies induced by the RTSS vaccine were non-significantly lower in iron deficient compared to IR children. In the ME-TRAP cohort, the vaccine induced protection by stimulating IFN γ producing PBMCs post vaccination. In the ex vivo assay ID was associated with significantly higher IFN γ producing PBMCs compared to the iron replete group at 6 months after vaccination. In the cultured assay there was no association observed between iron deficiency and IFN γ producing PBMCs after vaccination.

5.2 Conclusions

This study demonstrated the effects of ID and IDA were associated with low acquisition of malaria antibodies and RTSS malaria vaccine candidate which had not been previously explored. This is very key because malaria is one of the leading causes of mortality in children below 5 years. We currently do not have a licensed vaccine although various vaccines are under way at different phases of development. RTS,S was recommended for use in malaria endemic regions by the WHO in 2021. This finding is an important discovery since most vaccines focus on production of antibodies as a

mechanism of protection against malaria infection. Understanding how these vaccines are affected by children's iron status will guide policy makers and vaccine developers on the best approach to use to ensure maximum vaccine efficacy.

5.3 Recommendations and scope for future work

- The findings in this study support the WHO recommendation to offer iron supplementation coupled with malaria treatment in malaria endemic regions since ID also affects the immune status of a child.
- 2. Screening children for iron deficiency before vaccination is recommended to the Ministry of health to prevent poor vaccine responses in children.
- 3. This observational study couldn't conclusively establish causality in the relationship between ID and natural immunity to malaria. Therefore, a more robust study such as a randomized controlled trial or Mendelian randomization is needed to establish a causal relationship between ID and immunity.
- 4. This study focused on quantitative levels of antibodies. This doesn't exhaustively explain how ID affects functionality of these antibodies and other immune parameters such as T cells and cytokines. A study that examines effects of ID on the function of the immune system is recommended.

REFERENCES

- Abbassia Demmouche, S. R. (2014). Iron Deficiency Anemia in Children and Alteration of the Immune System. *Journal of Nutrition & Food Sciences*, 05(01), 1–5.
- Akpogheneta, O. J., Dunyo, S., Pinder, M., & Conway, D. J. (2010). Boosting antibody responses to Plasmodium falciparum merozoite antigens in children with highly seasonal exposure to infection. *Parasite immunology*, 32(4), 296–304. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20398230
- Alanine, D. G. W., Quinkert, D., Kumarasingha, R., Mehmood, S., Donnellan, F. R., Minkah, N. K., Dadonaite, B., et al. (2019). Human Antibodies that Slow Erythrocyte Invasion Potentiate Malaria-Neutralizing Antibodies. *Cell*, 178(1), 216-228.e21.
- Andrews, N. C., & Schmidt, P. J. (2007). Iron homeostasis. Annual review of physiology, 69, 69–85. United States.
- Asito, A. S., Moormann, A. M., Kiprotich, C., Ng'ang'a, Z. W., Ploutz-Snyder, R., & Rochford, R. (2008). Alterations on peripheral B cell subsets following an acute uncomplicated clinical malaria infection in children. *Malaria Journal*, 7(1), 238. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-7-238
- Atkinson, S. H., Armitage, A. E., Khandwala, S., Mwangi, T. W., Uyoga, S., Bejon, P. A., Williams, T. N., et al. (2014). Combinatorial effects of malaria season, iron deficiency, and inflammation determine plasma hepcidin concentration in African children. *Blood*, 123(21), 3221–3229.
- Atkinson, S. H., Uyoga, S. M., Armitage, A. E., Khandwala, S., Mugyenyi, C. K., Bejon, P., Marsh, K., et al. (2015). Malaria and Age Variably but Critically Control Hepcidin Throughout Childhood in Kenya. *EBioMedicine*, 2(10), 1478–1486. Elsevier B.V.

- Attia, M. A., Essa, S. A., Nosair, N. A., Amin, A. M., & El-Agamy, O. A. (2009). Effect of iron deficiency anemia and its treatment on cell mediated immunity. *Indian Journal of Hematology and Blood Transfusion*, 25(2), 70–77.
- Azab, S. F. A., Abdelsalam, S. M., Saleh, S. H. A., Elbehedy, R. M., Lotfy, S. M., Esh,
 A. M. H., Srea, M. A., et al. (2014). Iron deficiency anemia as a risk factor for cerebrovascular events in early childhood: A case-control study. *Annals of Hematology*, 93(4).
- Bagchi, K., Mohanram, M., & Reddy, V. (1980). Humoral immune response in children with iron-deficiency anaemia. *British medical journal*, 280(6226), 1249–1251. England.
- Baker, R. D., & Greer, F. R. (2010). Diagnosis and Prevention of Iron Deficiency and Iron-Deficiency Anemia in Infants and Young Children (0-3 Years of Age). *Pediatrics*, 126(5), 1040–1050. Retrieved from http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.2010-2576
- Beard, J. (2007). Recent evidence from human and animal studies regarding iron status and infant development. *Journal of Nutrition* (Vol. 137).
- Beard, J. L. (2001). Iron biology in immune function, muscle metabolism and neuronal functioning. *Journal of Nutrition* (Vol. 131).
- Bediako, Y., Ngoi, J. M., Nyangweso, G., Wambua, J., Opiyo, M., Nduati, E. W., Bejon,
 P., et al. (2016). The effect of declining exposure on T cell-mediated immunity to
 Plasmodium falciparum an epidemiological "natural experiment." *BMC Medicine*, *14*(1), 143. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0683-6
- Beeson, J. G., Drew, D. R., Boyle, M. J., Feng, G., Fowkes, F. J. I., & Richards, J. S. (2016). Merozoite surface proteins in red blood cell invasion, immunity and vaccines against malaria. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 40(3), 343–372. Oxford

University Press.

- Bejon, P., Mwacharo, J., Kai, O., Mwangi, T., Milligan, P., Todryk, S., Keating, S., et al. (2006). A phase 2b randomised trial of the candidate malaria vaccines FP9 ME-TRAP and MVA ME-TRAP among children in Kenya. *PLoS clinical trials*, 1(6), e29.
- Bejon, P., Ph, D., Lusingu, J., Ph, D., Olotu, A., Ch, B., Leach, A., et al. (2008). Efficacy of RTS,S/AS01E Vaccine against Malaria in Children 5 to 17 Months of Age. New England Journal of Medicine, 359(24), 2521–2532.
- Bonilla, F. A., & Oettgen, H. C. (2010). Adaptive immunity. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 125(2 Suppl 2), S33-40. United States.
- Boyle, M. J., Reiling, L., Feng, G., Langer, C., Osier, F. H., Aspeling-Jones, H., Cheng,
 Y. S., et al. (2015). Human antibodies fix complement to inhibit Plasmodium falciparum invasion of erythrocytes and are associated with protection against malaria. *Immunity*, 42(3), 580–590. Cell Press. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25786180
- Brussow, H., Sidoti, J., Dirren, H., & Freire, W. B. (1995). Effect of malnutrition in Ecuadorian children on titers of serum antibodies to various microbial antigens. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology*, 2(1), 62–68. United States.
- Burns, J. M. (2018). A step forward for an attenuated blood-stage malaria vaccine. *BMC Medicine*.
- Carvalho, L. H., Sano, G.-I., Hafalla, J. C. R., Morrot, A., Curotto de Lafaille, M. A., & Zavala, F. (2002). IL-4-secreting CD4+ T cells are crucial to the development of CD8+ T-cell responses against malaria liver stages. *Nature medicine*, 8(2), 166– 170. United States.

- Cassat, J. E., & Skaar, E. P. (2013). Iron in infection and immunity. *Cell Host and Microbe*.
- Chandra, R. K. (2002). Nutrition and the immune system from birth to old age. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56.
- Chandra, R. K., & Saraya, A. K. (1975). Impaired immunocompetence associated with iron deficiency. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 86(6), 899–902.
- Cherayil, B. J. (2011). Deficiency and Overload, (Oppenheimer 2001), 1–15.
- Chiu, C. Y. H., Healer, J., Thompson, J. K., Chen, L., Kaul, A., Savergave, L., Raghuwanshi, A., et al. (2014). Association of antibodies to Plasmodium falciparum reticulocyte binding protein homolog 5 with protection from clinical malaria. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5(JUN), 1–8.
- Collins, K. A., Snaith, R., Cottingham, M. G., Gilbert, S. C., & Hill, A. V. S. (2017). Enhancing protective immunity to malaria with a highly immunogenic virus-like particle vaccine. *Scientific Reports*, 7(April), 1–15. Nature Publishing Group.
- Cowman, A. F., Healer, J., Marapana, D., & Marsh, K. (2016). Malaria: Biology and Disease. *Cell*, 167(3), 610–624. Elsevier Inc. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.055
- Crogan, N. L., Velasquez, D., & Gagan, M. J. (2005). Testing the feasibility and initial effects of iron and vitamin C to enhance nursing home residents' immune status following an influenza vaccine. *Geriatric Nursing*, *26*(3), 188–194.
- Crompton, D. W. T., & Nesheim, M. C. (2002). Nutritional impact of intestinal helminthiasis during the human life cycle. *Annual Review of Nutrition*.
- Crompton, P. D., Kayala, M. A., Traore, B., Kayentao, K., Ongoiba, A., Weiss, G. E., Molina, D. M., et al. (2010). A prospective analysis of the Ab response to

Plasmodium falciparum before and after a malaria season by protein microarray. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(15), 6958–6963.

- Crompton, P. D., Moebius, J., Portugal, S., Waisberg, M., Hart, G., Garver, L. S., Miller, L. H., et al. (2014). Malaria immunity in man and mosquito: insights into unsolved mysteries of a deadly infectious disease. *Annual review of immunology*, 32, 157– 187.
- Crosnier, C., Bustamante, L. Y., Bartholdson, S. J., Bei, A. K., Theron, M., Uchikawa, M., Mboup, S., et al. (2011). Basigin is a receptor essential for erythrocyte invasion by Plasmodium falciparum. *Nature*, 480(7378), 534–537. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22080952
- Das, I., Saha, K., Mukhopadhyay, D., Roy, S., Raychaudhuri, G., Chatterjee, M., & Mitra, P. K. (2014). Impact of iron deficiency anemia on cell-mediated and humoral immunity in children: A case control study. *Journal of natural science*, *biology, and medicine*, 5(1), 158–163. India.
- Dhur, A, Galan, P., Hannoun, C., Huot, K., & Hercberg, S. (1990). Effects of iron deficiency upon the antibody response to influenza virus in rats. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, *1*(12), 629–634. United States.
- Dhur, Agnès, Galan, P., Hannoun, C., Huot, K., & Hercberg, S. (1990). Effects of iron deficiency upon the antibody response to influenza virus in rats. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 1(12), 629–634.
- Draper, S. J., Sack, B. K., King, C. R., Nielsen, C. M., Rayner, J. C., Higgins, M. K., Long, C. A., et al. (2018). Malaria Vaccines: Recent Advances and New Horizons. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 24(1), 43–56. The Authors.
- Ekiz, C., Agaoglu, L., Karakas, Z., Gurel, N., & Yalcin, I. (2005). The effect of iron

deficiency anemia on the function of the immune system. *Hematology Journal*, 5(7), 579–583.

- Ewer, K. J., O'Hara, G. A., Duncan, C. J. A., Collins, K. A., Sheehy, S. H., Reyes-Sandoval, A., Goodman, A. L., et al. (2013). Protective CD8 + T-cell immunity to human malaria induced by chimpanzee adenovirus-MVA immunisation. *Nature Communications*, 4, 4–13.
- Feng, X. B., Yang, X. Q., & Shen, J. (1994). Influence of iron deficiency on serum IgG subclass and pneumococcal polysaccharides specific IgG subclass antibodies. *Chinese medical journal*, 107(11), 813–816. China.
- Fillol, F., Sarr, J. B., Boulanger, D., Cisse, B., Sokhna, C., Riveau, G., Simondon, K. B., et al. (2009). Impact of child malnutrition on the specific anti-Plasmodium falciparum antibody response. *Malaria Journal*, 8(1), 1–10.
- Finberg, K. E. (2011). Unraveling mechanisms regulating systemic iron homeostasis. *Hematology. American Society of Hematology. Education Program*, 2011, 532– 537. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22160085
- Fowkes, F. J. I., Richards, J. S., Simpson, J. A., & Beeson, J. G. (2010). The relationship between anti-merozoite antibodies and incidence of Plasmodium falciparum malaria: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS medicine*, 7(1), e1000218–e1000218. Public Library of Science. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20098724
- Frost, J. N., Tan, T. K., Abbas, M., Wideman, S. K., Bonadonna, M., Stoffel, N. U., Wray, K., et al. (2021). Hepcidin-Mediated Hypoferremia Disrupts Immune Responses to Vaccination and Infection. *Med (New York, N.Y.)*, 2(2), 164-179.e12.
- Fülöp, T. J., Wagner, J. R., Khalil, A., Weber, J., Trottier, L., & Payette, H. (1999).Relationship between the response to influenza vaccination and the nutritional

status in institutionalized elderly subjects. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*, 54(2), M59-64. United States.

- Gachelin, G., Garner, P., Ferroni, E., Verhave, J. P., & Opinel, A. (2018). Evidence and strategies for malaria prevention and control: A historical analysis. *Malaria Journal*.
- Galan, P., Davila, M., Mekki, N., & Hercberg, S. (1988). Iron deficiency, inflammatory processes and humoral immunity in children. *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research*. *Internationale Zeitschrift fur Vitamin- und Ernahrungsforschung*. *Journal international de vitaminologie et de nutrition*, 58(2), 225–230. Switzerland.
- Garnham, P. C. C. (1949). Malarial immunity in Africans; effects in infancy and early childhood. *Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology*, *43*(1), 47–61. England.
- Genton, B., Al-Yaman, F., Ginny, M., Taraika, J., & Alpers, M. P. (1998). Relation of anthropometry to malaria morbidity and immunity in Papua New Guinean children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(3), 734–741.
- Greenwood, B., & Doumbo, O. K. (2016). Implementation of the malaria candidate vaccine RTS,S/AS01. *The Lancet*, 387(10016), 318–319. Greenwood et al. Open Access article distributed under the terms of CC BY. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00807-7
- Guzikowska, E., Cholewa, Z., Bujniewicź, E., Moskała, H., Guzikowski, K., & Madeyski, J. (1989). [Various parameters of humoral and cellular immunity in children with iron deficiency]. *Polski tygodnik lekarski (Warsaw, Poland : 1960)*, 44(30–31), 718–719. Poland.
- Hassan, T. H., Badr, M. A., Karam, N. A., Zkaria, M., El Saadany, H. F., Rahman, D.M. A., Shahbah, D. A., et al. (2016). Impact of iron deficiency anemia on the

function of the immune system in children. Medicine (United States), 95(47), 1–5.

- Herrera, R., Anderson, C., Kumar, K., Molina-Cruz, A., Nguyen, V., Burkhardt, M., Reiter, K., et al. (2015). Reversible Conformational Change in the Plasmodium falciparum Circumsporozoite Protein Masks Its Adhesion Domains. *Infection and immunity*, 83(10), 3771–3780. American Society for Microbiology. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26169272
- Hill, D. L., Eriksson, E. M., Li Wai Suen, C. S. N., Chiu, C. Y., Ryg-Cornejo, V., Robinson, L. J., Siba, P. M., et al. (2013). Opsonising antibodies to P. falciparum merozoites associated with immunity to clinical malaria. *PloS one*, 8(9), e74627.
- Jabara, H. H., Boyden, S. E., Chou, J., Ramesh, N., Massaad, M. J., Benson, H., Bainter, W., et al. (2016). A missense mutation in TFRC, encoding transferrin receptor 1, causes combined immunodeficiency. *Nature genetics*, 48(1), 74–78. United States.
- Jagannathan, P., Kim, C. C., Greenhouse, B., Nankya, F., Bowen, K., Eccles-James, I., Muhindo, M. K., et al. (2014). Loss and dysfunction of $V\delta 2^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells are associated with clinical tolerance to malaria. *Science translational medicine*, 6(251), 251ra117.
- Jason, J., Archibald, L. K., Nwanyanwu, O. C., Bell, M., Jensen, R. J., Gunter, E., Buchanan, I., et al. (2001). The effects of iron deficiency on lymphocyte cytokine production and activation: Preservation of hepatic iron but not at all cost. *Clinical* and Experimental Immunology, 126(3), 466–473.
- Jiang, Y., Li, C., Wu, Q., An, P., Huang, L., Wang, J., Chen, C., et al. (2019). Irondependent histone 3 lysine 9 demethylation controls B cell proliferation and humoral immune responses. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 2935.
- Joice, R., Nilsson, S. K., Montgomery, J., Dankwa, S., Egan, E., Morahan, B., Seydel,K. B., et al. (2014). Plasmodium falciparum transmission stages accumulate in the

human bone marrow. Science Translational Medicine, 6(244).

- Jonker, F. A. M., & Boele van Hensbroek, M. (2014). Anaemia, iron deficiency and susceptibility to infections. *Journal of Infection*, 69(S1).
- Kapulu, M. C., Da, D. F., Miura, K., Li, Y., Blagborough, A. M., Churcher, T. S., Nikolaeva, D., et al. (2015). Comparative assessment of transmission-blocking vaccine candidates against Plasmodium falciparum. *Scientific reports*, *5*, 11193. Nature Publishing Group. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26063320
- Kassebaum, N. J., Jasrasaria, R., Naghavi, M., Wulf, S. K., Johns, N., Lozano, R., Regan, M., et al. (2014). A systematic analysis of global anemia burden from 1990 to 2010. *Blood*, *123*(5), 615–624. American Society of Hematology. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24297872
- Kemp, J. D., Thorson, J. A., Gomez, F., Smith, K. M., Cowdery, J. S., & Ballas, Z. K. (1989). Inhibition of lymphocyte activation with anti-transferrin receptor Mabs: a comparison of three reagents and further studies of their range of effects and mechanism of action. *Cellular immunology*, 122(1), 218–230. Netherlands.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics KNBS. (2009). Kenya 2009 population and housing census highlight. Retrieved from https://www.scribd.com/doc/36672705/Kenya-Census-2009
- Kochanowski, B. A., & Sherman, A. R. (1985). Decreased antibody formation in irondeficient rat pups--effect of iron repletion. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 41(2), 278–284. United States.
- Kotze, M. J., Velden, D. P. Van, Rensburg, S. J. Van, & Erasmus, R. (2009). P Athogenic Mechanisms Underlying Iron Deficiency and Iron Overload: N Ew Insights for Clinical Application, 20, 108–123.

- Kramer, J. L., Baltathakis, I., Alcantara, O. S. F., & Boldt, D. H. (2002). Differentiation of functional dendritic cells and macrophages from human peripheral blood monocyte precursors is dependent on expression of p21 (WAF1/CIP1) and requires iron. *British Journal of Haematology*, 117(3), 727–734.
- Kurosaki, T., Kometani, K., & Ise, W. (2015). Memory B cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15(3), 149–159. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3802
- Kurup, S. P., Butler, N. S., & Harty, J. T. (2019). T cell-mediated immunity to malaria. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 19(7), 457–471. Springer US. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0158-z
- Kuvibidila, S. R., Gardner, R., Velez, M., & Yu, L. (2010). Iron deficiency, but not underfeeding reduces the secretion of interferon-gamma by mitogen-activated murine spleen cells. *Cytokine*, 52(3), 230–237. England.
- Kuvibidila, S., & Warrier, R. P. (2004). Differential effects of iron deficiency and underfeeding on serum levels of interleukin-10, interleukin-12p40, and interferongamma in mice. *Cytokine*, 26(2), 73–81.
- Larocque, R., Casapia, M., Gotuzzo, E., & Gyorkos, T. W. (2005). Relationship between intensity of soil-transmitted helminth infections and anemia during pregnancy. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 73(4), 783–789. United States.
- Lopez, A., Cacoub, P., Macdougall, I. C., & Peyrin-Biroulet, L. (2016). Iron deficiency anaemia. *Lancet (London, England)*, *387*(10021), 907–916. England.
- Lozoff, B. (2011). Early Iron Deficiency Has Brain and Behavior Effects Consistent with Dopaminergic Dysfunction. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *141*(4), 740S-746S.
- Macdougall, L. G., Anderson, R., McNab, G. M., & Katz, J. (1975). The immune response in iron-deficient children: Impaired cellular defense mechanisms with

altered humoral components. The Journal of Pediatrics, 86(6), 833-843. Elsevier.

- Marsh, K., & Kinyanjui, S. (2006). Immune effector mechanisms in malaria. *Parasite Immunology*, 28(1–2), 51–60.
- Matsuzaki-Moriya, C., Tu, L., Ishida, H., Imai, T., Suzue, K., Hirai, M., Tetsutani, K., et al. (2011). A critical role for phagocytosis in resistance to malaria in iron-deficient mice. *European Journal of Immunology*, 41(5), 1365–1375.
- Moinester, M. A., & Gottfried, R. (2014). Sample size estimation for correlations with pre-specified confidence interval.
- Mugyenyi, C. K., Elliott, S. R., McCallum, F. J., Anders, R. F., Marsh, K., & Beeson, J.
 G. (2013). Antibodies to Polymorphic Invasion-Inhibitory and Non-Inhibitory
 Epitopes of Plasmodium falciparum Apical Membrane Antigen 1 in Human Malaria. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7).
- Mugyenyi, C. K., Elliott, S. R., Yap, X. Z., Feng, G., Boeuf, P., Fegan, G., Osier, F. F.
 H., et al. (2017). Declining Malaria Transmission Differentially Impacts the Maintenance of Humoral Immunity to Plasmodium falciparum in Children. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 216(7), 887–898. United States.
- Mullick, S., Rusia, U., Sikka, M., & Faridi, M. A. (2006). Impact of iron deficiency anaemia on T lymphocytes & their subsets in children. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 124(DEC.), 647–654.
- Muriuki, J. M., Mentzer, A. J., Kimita, W., Ndungu, F. M., MacHaria, A. W., Webb, E. L., Lule, S. A., et al. (2019). Iron Status and Associated Malaria Risk among African Children. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 68(11), 1807–1814.
- Muriuki, J. M., Mentzer, A. J., Webb, E. L., Morovat, A., Kimita, W., Ndungu, F. M., Macharia, A. W., et al. (2020). Estimating the burden of iron deficiency among

African children. BMC medicine, 18(1), 31. BioMed Central.

- Mwangi, T. W., Ross, A., Snow, R. W., & Marsh, K. (2005). Case definitions of clinical malaria under different transmission conditions in Kilifi District, Kenya. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 191(11), 1932–1939. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15871128
- Nairz, M., Haschka, D., Demetz, E., & Weiss, G. (2014). Iron at the interface of immunity and infection. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 5 JUL(July), 1–10.
- Nairz, M., Schleicher, U., Schroll, A., Sonnweber, T., Theurl, I., Ludwiczek, S., Talasz, H., et al. (2013). Nitric oxide–mediated regulation of ferroportin-1 controls macrophage iron homeostasis and immune function in *Salmonella* infection. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210(5), 855–873. Retrieved from http://www.jem.org/lookup/doi/10.1084/jem.20121946
- Nairz, M., Schroll, A., Sonnweber, T., & Weiss, G. (2010). The struggle for iron a metal at the host-pathogen interface. *Cellular microbiology*, 12(12), 1691–1702. India.
- Ndungu, Francis M, Bull, P. C., Ross, A., Lowe, B. S., Kabiru, E., & Marsh, K. (2002). Naturally acquired immunoglobulin (Ig)G subclass antibodies to crude asexual Plasmodium falciparum lysates: Evidence for association with protection for IgG1 and disease for IgG2. *Parasite Immunology*, 24(2), 77–82.
- Ndungu, Francis Maina, Marsh, K., Fegan, G., Wambua, J., Nyangweso, G., Ogada, E., Mwangi, T., et al. (2015). Identifying children with excess malaria episodes after adjusting for variation in exposure: identification from a longitudinal study using statistical count models. *BMC Medicine*, 13(1), 183. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-015-0422-4

Ndungu, Francis Maina, Olotu, A., Mwacharo, J., Nyonda, M., Apfeld, J., Mramba, L.

K., Fegan, G. W., et al. (2012). Memory B cells are a more reliable archive for historical antimalarial responses than plasma antibodies in no-longer exposed children. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(21), 8247–8252.

- Ned, R. M., Swat, W., & Andrews, N. C. (2003). Transferrin receptor 1 is differentially required in lymphocyte development. *Blood*, *102*(10), 3711–3718. United States.
- Nemeth, E., & Ganz, T. (2009). The role of hepcidin in iron metabolism. *Acta Haematologica*, *122*(2–3), 78–86.
- Nyakeriga, A M, Williams, T. N., Marsh, K., Wambua, S., Perlmann, H., Perlmann, P., Grandien, A., et al. (2005). Cytokine mRNA expression and iron status in children living in a malaria endemic area. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, 61(4), 370– 375. England.
- Nyakeriga, Alice M., Troye-Blomberg, M., Dorfman, J. R., Alexander, N. D., Bäck, R., Kortok, M., Chemtai, A. K., et al. (2004). Iron Deficiency and Malaria among Children Living on the Coast of Kenya. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 190(3), 439–447.
- O'Meara, W. P., Bejon, P., Mwangi, T. W., Okiro, E. A., Peshu, N., Snow, R. W., Newton, C. R. J. C., et al. (2008). Effect of a fall in malaria transmission on morbidity and mortality in Kilifi, Kenya. *Lancet (London, England)*, 372(9649), 1555–1562.
- Ochsenbein, A. F., Pinschewer, D. D., Sierro, S., Horvath, E., Hengartner, H., & Zinkernagel, R. M. (2000). Protective long-term antibody memory by antigendriven and T help-dependent differentiation of long-lived memory B cells to shortlived plasma cells independent of secondary lymphoid organs, 97(24).
- Ogwang, C., Kimani, D., Edwards, N. J., Roberts, R., Mwacharo, J., Bowyer, G., Bliss,

C., et al. (2015). Prime-boost vaccination with chimpanzee adenovirus and modified vaccinia Ankara encoding TRAP provides partial protection against Plasmodium falciparum infection in Kenyan adults. *Science translational medicine*, 7(286), 286re5-286re5. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25947165

- Oliveira, G. A., Kumar, K. A., Calvo-Calle, J. M., Othoro, C., Altszuler, D., Nussenzweig, V., & Nardin, E. H. (2008). Class II-restricted protective immunity induced by malaria sporozoites. *Infection and immunity*, 76(3), 1200–1206. American Society for Microbiology (ASM). Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18160479
- Olivier, M., Van Den Ham, K., Shio, M. T., Kassa, F. A., & Fougeray, S. (2014). Malarial pigment hemozoin and the innate inflammatory response. *Frontiers in immunology*, 5, 25.
- Olotu, A., Fegan, G., Wambua, J., Nyangweso, G., Awuondo, K. O., Leach, A., Lievens, M., et al. (2013). Four-year efficacy of RTS,S/AS01E and its interaction with malaria exposure. *The New England journal of medicine*, 368(12), 1111–1120. United States.
- Olotu, A., Fegan, G., Wambua, J., Nyangweso, G., Ogada, E., Drakeley, C., Marsh, K., et al. (2012). Estimating individual exposure to malaria using local prevalence of malaria infection in the field. *PloS one*, 7(3), e32929–e32929. Public Library of Science.
- Omara, F. O., & Blakley, B. R. (1994). The effects of iron deficiency and iron overload on cell-mediated immunity in the mouse. *The British journal of nutrition*, 72(6), 899–909. England.
- Oppenheimer, S. J. (2001). Iron and its relation to immunity and infectious disease. *The Journal of nutrition*, *131*(2S-2), 616S-633S; discussion 633S-635S. United States.

- Osier, F. H. A., Fegan, G., Polley, S. D., Murungi, L., Verra, F., Tetteh, K. K. A., Lowe, B., et al. (2008). Breadth and magnitude of antibody responses to multiple Plasmodium falciparum merozoite antigens are associated with protection from clinical malaria. *Infection and Immunity*, 76(5), 2240–2248.
- Osier, F. H., Feng, G., Boyle, M. J., Langer, C., Zhou, J., Richards, J. S., McCallum, F. J., et al. (2014). Opsonic phagocytosis of Plasmodium falciparum merozoites: mechanism in human immunity and a correlate of protection against malaria. *BMC medicine*, *12*, 108. England.
- Overstreet, M. G., Chen, Y.-C., Cockburn, I. A., Tse, S.-W., & Zavala, F. (2011). CD4+ T cells modulate expansion and survival but not functional properties of effector and memory CD8+ T cells induced by malaria sporozoites. *PloS one*, 6(1), e15948.
- Park, S. K., Kim, S. K., & Joo, E. Y. (2017). Iron deficiency anemia in infants and young children. *Haematologica*, 102 (Suppl(4), 760. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext& D=emed18&AN=617378915%0Ahttp://eleanor.lib.gla.ac.uk:4550/resserv?sid=OVI D:embase&id=pmid:&id=doi:&issn=1592-8721&isbn=&volume=102&issue=Supplement+2&spage=760&pages=760&date= 2017&title=Ha
- Payne, R. O., Silk, S. E., Elias, S. C., Miura, K., Diouf, A., Galaway, F., de Graaf, H., et al. (2017). Human vaccination against RH5 induces neutralizing antimalarial antibodies that inhibit RH5 invasion complex interactions. *JCI Insight*, 2(21), 1–19.
- Porto, G., & De Sousa, M. (2007). Iron overload and immunity. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *13*(35), 4707–4715.
- Preston, A. E., Drakesmith, H., & Frost, J. N. (2021). Adaptive immunity and vaccination iron in the spotlight. *Immunotherapy Advances*, *1*(1). Retrieved from

https://doi.org/10.1093/immadv/ltab007

- Reddy, K. S., Amlabu, E., Pandey, A. K., Mitra, P., Chauhan, V. S., & Gaur, D. (2015).
 Multiprotein complex between the GPI-anchored CyRPA with PfRH5 and PfRipr is crucial for Plasmodium falciparum erythrocyte invasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(4), 1179–1184.
- Richards, J. S., Stanisic, D. I., Fowkes, F. J. I., Tavul, L., Dabod, E., Thompson, J. K., Kumar, S., et al. (2010). Association between naturally acquired antibodies to erythrocyte-binding antigens of Plasmodium falciparum and protection from malaria and high-density parasitemia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 51(8).
- Richardson, D. R., Lane, D. J. R., Becker, E. M., Huang, M. L.-H., Whitnall, M., Rahmanto, Y. S., Sheftel, A. D., et al. (2010). Mitochondrial iron trafficking and the integration of iron metabolism between the mitochondrion and cytosol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(24), 10775–10782. Retrieved from http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0912925107
- RTS,S Clinical Trials Partnership. (2015). Efficacy and safety of RTS,S/AS01 malaria vaccine with or without a booster dose in infants and children in Africa: Final results of a phase 3, individually randomised, controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *386*(9988), 31–45. Elsevier Ltd. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60721-8
- Sadeghian, M. H., Keramati, M. R., Ayatollahi, H., Manavifar, L., Enaiati, H., & Mahmoudi, M. (2010). Serum immunoglobulins in patients with iron deficiency anemia. *Indian journal of hematology & blood transfusion : an official journal of Indian Society of Hematology and Blood Transfusion*, 26(2), 45–48. Springer-Verlag.

Santos, P. C., & Falcão, R. P. (1990). Decreased Lymphocyte Subsets and K-Cell

Activity in Iron Deficiency Anemia. *Acta Haematologica*, 84(3), 118–121. Retrieved from https://www.karger.com/DOI/10.1159/000205047

- Shio, M. T., Kassa, F. A., Bellemare, M.-J., & Olivier, M. (2010). Innate inflammatory response to the malarial pigment hemozoin. *Microbes and infection*, 12(12–13), 889–899. France.
- Slifka, M. K., & Amanna, I. (2014). How advances in immunology provide insight into improving vaccine efficacy. *Vaccine*, 32(25), 2948–2957.
- Snow, R. W., Guerra, C. A., Noor, A. M., Myint, H. Y., & Hay, S. I. (2005). The global distribution of clinical episodes of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *Nature*, 434(7030), 214–217.
- Soares, M. P., & Weiss, G. (2015). The Iron age of host microbe interactions, 16(11), 1482–1500.
- Sobhani, S. A., Etaati, Z., Mirani, S., Saberi, P., Shiroodi, M., Salmasian, H., & Naderi, N. (2011). The association between iron status and some immunological factors in the pregnancy. *Iranian Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, 9(3), 251–252.
- Soe-Lin, S., Apte, S. S., Andriopoulos, B., Andrews, M. C., Schranzhofer, M., Kahawita, T., Garcia-Santos, D., et al. (2009). Nramp1 promotes efficient macrophage recycling of iron following erythrophagocytosis in vivo. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(14), 5960–5965. Retrieved from http://www.pnas.org/content/106/14/5960.abstract%5Cnhttp://www.pnas.org/conte nt/106/14/5960.full.pdf
- Sousa, M. De, & Salazar, A. (1989). Immune cell functions in iron overload. *Clin. exp. Immunol*, 75(September 1988), 1–6. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1541876/pdf/clinexpimmunol0008 8-0008.pdf

- Stirnadel, H. A., Al-Yaman, F., Genton, B., Alpers, M. P., & Smith, T. A. (2000). Assessment of different sources of variation in the antibody responses to specific malaria antigens in children in Papua New Guinea. *International journal of epidemiology*, 29(3), 579–586. England.
- Stoffel, N. U., Uyoga, M. A., Mutuku, F. M., Frost, J. N., Mwasi, E., Paganini, D., van der Klis, F. R. M., et al. (2020). Iron Deficiency Anemia at Time of Vaccination Predicts Decreased Vaccine Response and Iron Supplementation at Time of Vaccination Increases Humoral Vaccine Response: A Birth Cohort Study and a Randomized Trial Follow-Up Study in Kenyan Infants. *Frontiers in immunology*, *11*, 1313.
- Swinkels, D. W., Janssen, M. C. H., Bergmans, J., & Marx, J. J. M. (2006). Hereditary hemochromatosis: genetic complexity and new diagnostic approaches. *Clinical chemistry*, 52(6), 950–968. England.
- Tandara, L., & Salamunic, I. (2012). Iron metabolism: current facts and future decisions. *Biochemia Medica*, 22(3), 311–328. Retrieved from http://www.biochemiamedica.com/node/508
- Tang, Y.-M., Chen, X.-Z., Li, G.-R., Zhou, R.-H., Ning, H., & Yan, H. (2006). [Effects of iron deficiency anemia on immunity and infectious disease in pregnant women]. Wei sheng yan jiu = Journal of hygiene research, 35(1), 79–81. China.
- Tavares, J., Formaglio, P., Thiberge, S., Mordelet, E., Van Rooijen, N., Medvinsky, A., Ménard, R., et al. (2013). Role of host cell traversal by the malaria sporozoite during liver infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 210(5), 905–915. The Rockefeller University Press. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23610126

Teo, A., Feng, G., Brown, G. V., Beeson, J. G., & Rogerson, S. J. (2016). Functional

Antibodies and Protection against Blood-stage Malaria. *Trends in Parasitology*, 32(11), 887–898. Elsevier Ltd.

- Tham, W. H., Healer, J., & Cowman, A. F. (2012). Erythrocyte and reticulocyte binding-like proteins of Plasmodium falciparum. *Trends in Parasitology*.
- The RTSS Clinical Trials Partnership. (2014). Efficacy and Safety of the RTS,S/AS01 Malaria Vaccine during 18 Months after Vaccination: A Phase 3 Randomized, Controlled Trial in Children and Young Infants at 11 African Sites. *PLoS Medicine*, *11*(7).
- Thibault, H., Galan, P., Selz, F., Preziosi, P., Olivier, C., Badoual, J., & Hercberg, S. (1993). The immune response in iron-deficient young children: Effect of iron supplementation on cell-mediated immunity. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 152(2), 120–124.
- Tran, T. M., Ongoiba, A., Coursen, J., Crosnier, C., Diouf, A., Huang, C.-Y., Li, S., et al. (2014). Naturally acquired antibodies specific for Plasmodium falciparum reticulocyte-binding protein homologue 5 inhibit parasite growth and predict protection from malaria. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 209(5), 789–798.
- Ward, R. J., Crichton, R. R., Taylor, D. L., Della Corte, L., Srai, S. K., & Dexter, D. T. (2011). Iron and the immune system. *Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996)*, 118(3), 315–328.
- Weiss, G. (2002). Iron and immunity: a double-edged sword. European journal of clinical investigation, 32 Suppl 1, 70–78. England.
- Weiss, G. E., Crompton, P. D., Li, S., Walsh, L. A., Moir, S., Traore, B., Kayentao, K., et al. (2009). Atypical memory B cells are greatly expanded in individuals living in a malaria-endemic area. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 183(3), 2176–2182.

- Weiss, G. E., Gilson, P. R., Taechalertpaisarn, T., Tham, W.-H., de Jong, N. W. M., Harvey, K. L., Fowkes, F. J. I., et al. (2015). Revealing the sequence and resulting cellular morphology of receptor-ligand interactions during Plasmodium falciparum invasion of erythrocytes. *PLoS pathogens*, *11*(2), e1004670–e1004670. Public Library of Science. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25723550
- WHO. (2015). The global prevalence of anaemia in 2011. World Health Organization. Geneva. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/micronutrients/global_prevalence_anae mia_2011/en/
- WHO. (2018). Malaria vaccine: WHO position paper, January 2016 Recommendations. Vaccine, 36(25), 3576–3577. Elsevier Ltd. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.10.047
- WHO. (2019). Malaria Vaccine Implementation Programme (MVIP): Proposed Framework For Policy Decision on RTS,S/AS01 Malaria Vaccine, (March), 55.
- World Health Organization. (2021a). World Malaria Report 2021. World Health Organization. Geneva.
- World Health Organization. (2021b). WHO recommends groundbreaking malaria vaccine for children at risk. WHO. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news/item/06-10-2021-who-recommends-groundbreakingmalaria-vaccine-for-children-at-risk#:~:text=The World Health Organization (WHO,falciparum malaria transmission.
- World Heath Organization, W. (2001). *Iron deficiency anaemia: Assessment, prevention and control.A guide for programme managers*. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Yamanishi, H., Iyama, S., Yamaguchi, Y., Kanakura, Y., & Iwatani, Y. (2003a). Total iron-binding capacity calculated from serum transferrin concentration or serum iron

concentration and unsaturated iron-binding capacity. *Clinical Chemistry*, 49(1), 175–178.

- Yamanishi, H., Iyama, S., Yamaguchi, Y., Kanakura, Y., & Iwatani, Y. (2003b). Total iron-binding capacity calculated from serum transferrin concentration or serum iron concentration and unsaturated iron-binding capacity. *Clinical chemistry*, 49(1), 175–178. England.
- Zou, G. Y. (2012). Sample size formulas for estimating intraclass correlation coefficients with precision and assurance. *Statistics in Medicine*, *31*(29), 3972–3981. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.5466

APPENDICES

Appendices I: Ethics certificate



	P.O. Box 54540-06200, NAIROBI, Kemya Tel:(254) (020) 2722541, 2713349, 0722-365901, 9733-400003, Fax: (254) (020) 2729030 E-mail: director@kemrl.org, Info@kemrl.org, Website.www.kemrl.org
KEMRI/R	ES/7/3/1 April 29, 2015
т0:	DR. SARAH ATKINSON, PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR
THROUGH:	KILIFI
Dear Madam	n. the Least in
RE: KEM GEN	RI/SERU/CGMR-C/046/3257 (REQUEST FOR ANNUAL RENEWAL): TH RETICS OF IRON STATUS AND SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CHILDHOOD INFECTIONS
Thank you fo	or the continuing review report for the period May 09, 2018 to March 18, 2019
This is to infi (SERU) was satisfactory.	form you that the Expedited Review Team of the KEMRI Scientific and Ethics Review Un s of the informed opinion that the progress made during the reported period. The study has therefore been granted approval .
This approv	val is valid from May 09, 2019 through to May 08, 2020. Please note th
authorization continue will continuing a	n to conduct this study will automatically expire on May 08, 2020. If you plan if ith data collection or analysis beyond this date, please submit an application if approval to the SERU by March 28, 2020.
You are req human parti	juired to submit any amendments to this protocol and other information pertinent i repation in this study to the SERU for review prior to initiation.
Yours faithfu	ulty,
HANNIN:	Maphic Mag
ENOCK KEE THE ACTIN KEMRI SCI	BENEI, IG HEAD, IENTIFIC AND ETHICS REVIEW UNIT.

In Search of Better Health

17 MAY 2019

Appendices II: Publication

Clinical Infectious Diseases

MAJOR ARTICLE



Iron Deficiency Is Associated With Reduced Levels of *Plasmodium falciparum*-specific Antibodies in African Children

Carolino K, Bandi, ¹² Angela Nalwoga,³ Lawrence Labyzyi,⁷ John Mathil Murteki,⁷ Reogan M Mogina,¹ Herbert Opt,⁴ Alexander J. Mentrect¹⁴ Cloopatra K, Mugyenyi,¹⁴ Jodida Mwachara,⁵ Emity L. Wabb,⁷ Philip Bejon,¹⁸ Thomas N. Williams,¹⁸³ Joseph K, Cikunja,² James C, Beeson,¹⁰⁰⁰ Alison M, Elliott,¹⁹² Francis M, Ndungu,¹ and Sarah H, Atkinson¹⁸²⁰

¹Konge Medical Research Institute (IZMRI) Centre for Geographic Medicine Coast, ISSMI Weldcome Trust Research Programme, Kill, Konge, ²Department of Medical Laboratory Science, Jamos Respirite University of Agriculture and Technology, Searchi, Konge, ³Medical Research Coast-Killing and Visa Research Intitiate and Laboratory Science, Research Lint, Entode, Ugania, ⁵Samet Institute, Medicame, Astronia, ⁴Welcome Derive for Human Geostra, Mithiel Cooption, Mitte Cooption, ¹Coopertment of Medical Laboratory Science, Research Lint, Entode, Ugania, ⁵Samet Institute, Medicame, Astronia, ⁴Welcome Derive for Human Geostra, University, Mitte Cooption, ¹Medical Cooption, ¹Samet Institute, Medical Cooption, ¹Samet Institute, U.A. Simong, Coopertment of Medical Cooption, ¹Samet Institute, U.A. Simo, ¹Samet Institute, Institute, Linker, Coopertment of Medical Cooption, ¹Samet Institute, Instit

Background. Iron deficiency (ID) and mularia are common causes of ill-health and disability among children living in sub-Saharan Africa. Although iron is critical for the acquisition of humoral immunity, little is known about the effects of ID on antibody responses to Plasmodium fakthurum malaria.

Methods. The study included 1794 Kenyan and Ugandan children aged 0-7 years. We measured biomarkers of iron and inflammation, and antibodies to P. falciparson antigens including apical merozoite antigen 1 (anti-AMA-1) and merozoite surface antigen 1 (anti-MSP-1) in cross-sectional and longitudinal studies.

Results. The overall prevalence of ID was 31%. ID was associated with lower anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in pooled analyses adjusted for age, sex, study site, inflammation, and *P. faktparam* parasitemia (adjusted mean difference on a logtransformed scale (β) =0.46; 95 confidence interval [CI], -.66, -.25 *P* < .0001; β =0.33; 95 CI, -.50, -.16 *P* < .0001, respectively). Additional covariates for malaria exposure index, previous malaria episodes, and time since last malaria episode were available for individual cohorts. Meta-analysis was used to allow for these adjustments giving β =0.34; -0.52, -0.16 for anti-AMA-1 antibodies and β =0.26; -0.41, -0.11 for anti-MSP-1 antibodies. Low transferrin saturation was similarly associated with reduced anti-AMA-1 antibody levels. Lower AMA-1 and MSP-1-specific antibody levels persisted over time in too-deficient children.

Conclusions. Reduced levels of P. falciparum-specific antibodies in iron-deficient children might reflect impaired acquisition of immunity to malaria and/or reduced malaria exposure. Strategies to prevent and treat ID may influence antibody responses to malaria for children living in sub-Saharan Africa.

Keywords. Iron deficiency; Immunity; children; malaria; Africa.

Iron defictency (ID) is highly prevalent among young children living in sub-Saharan Africa [1], and iron deficiency anemia (IDA) is the leading cause of years lived with disability among African children [2] due to its negative effects on child development [3]. Malaria is also a major public health problem causing approximately 405 000 deaths in 2018, of which 85% occurred in sub-Saharan Africa, mainly among young children [4]. Children acquire immunity to malaria over time and antibodies to merozoite antigens are important mediators of naturally-acquired immunity [5, 6], in addition to other responses.

Iron is important for the development of humoral immunity and antibody production. ID impairs B-cell proliferation and antibody production [7], and a mutation in transferrin receptor 1 (TfR1), which causes insufficient cellular iron uptake, leads to defective B- and T-cell activation and combinedimmunodeficiency [8]. ID is associated with reduced antibody levels in children [9–11] and in rat models [12], as well as with weakened vaccine responses [7, 13], although other studies have found little association with antibody levels [14–16] or vaccine responses [17, 18]. ID has also been associated with reduced frequencies of B and T cells and cytokines, necessary for antibody production [8–10, 19].

Received 3 January 2002; additrati discision 2 May 2020; accepted 3 Janua 2002; published online Janua 7, 2025.

Conseptations S. H. Akknew, KIME-Welcame Trut Research Programme, PD Dia 200, KITER, KAR, Kerya (self-trace-Quent-self-cons.org)

Clinical intections Diseaser® 201/73(1)-G-5

[©] The Authority 2020. Published by Daterd University Press for the Intertious Dissesses Society of America. This is an Open Access article distributed under the larms of the Develop Common Attribution License (Migr (Developments any Texasor Appl (12), which permits anomitical mass, distribution, and openatization in any mediam, provided the original work is properly clear. USI: 10.3202/claj/com/201

Although ID is highly prevalent among African children and is known to influence immune responses little is known about the effect of ID on the acquisition of immunity to malaria. We previously observed that ID was associated with decreased total immunoglobalin G (IgG) and immunoglobulin E (igE) levels to *P* falciparam schizont extract [20] and that hepeddin, the master iron-hormone, was associated with increased levels of antibodies to anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-2 antigens [21], in small studies. In the current study, we investigated the relationship between iron status and antibody levels to specific *P* falciparum antigens in 1794 Kenyan and Ugandan children. We evaluated antibodies to 2 major merozetic antigens, anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1, which are targets of acquired immunity, and antibodies to these antigens have previously been associated with protective immunity to malaria in our study population [5, 22].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was provided by the Scientific Ethics Review Unit of the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI/SERU/ OGMR-C/046/3257/2983), by the Uganda Virus Research Institute (reference GC/127/12/07/32), the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (MV625), and in the United Kingdom by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee (A340) and the Oxford Tropical Research Ethics Committee (OXTREC, 39-12 and 42-14 and 37-15).

Study Population

We used data from community-based cohorts of children in Kilift, Kenya, and Eniebbe, Uganda.

Kenya: The Kenyan children included two community-based cohorts-exposed to varying levels of malaria transmission, Junju and RTS,5. Junju is a surveillance cohort evaluating immunity to malaria as described elsewhere [23]. The RTS,5 cohort is an extension of the RTS,5/ASD1E vaccine irial against malaria conducted between 2007 and 2008 [24]. Both cohorts are under active weekly surveillance to assess for fever, and a malaria blood film is taken if the temperature is > 37.5°C. Additionally, antual cross-sectional blood samples are taken for immunology and parasitology during the dry period before the main annual malaria transmission season. Iron biomarkers and malaria antibodies were measured on the same plasma sample from a single annual cross-sectional bleed based on the availability of a sample archived at ~80°C.

Uganda: The Entebbe Mother and Baby Study (EMaBS) is a prospective birth cohort that was originally designed as a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial to determine whether anthelminik treatment during pregnancy and early childhood was associated with differential responses to vaccination or incidence of infections such as malaria, pneumonia and

44 . CID 2021:73 (1 July) . Bund et al

dtarthea [25]. Children had active surveillance for malarta and other infections during fortnightly home visits and quarterly clinic visits, and an annual blood sample was collected. Malarta antibodies were measured from a sample taken at 5 years of age, and iron biomarkers were measured from a single annual bleed taken between 1 and 4 years of age based on the availability of plasma samples archived at -80°C.

Laboratory Procedures

Iron and Inflammation Biomarkers

The measured biomarkers of iron status and inflammation were iron (MULTIGENT iron calorimetric assay, Abbott Architeci, USA), ferritin, transferrin (chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay [CMI], Abbott Architect), soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR, Haman sTfR ELISA, BioVendor), hepcidin (DRG Hepcidin 25 [bioactive] high sensitive ELISA KR, DRG Diagnostics), transferrin (CMI, Abbott Architect) hemoglobin (Coulter analyzer, Beckman Coulter), and C-reactive protein (CRP, MULTIGENT CRP Vario assay, Abbott Architect). In Uganda, hemoglobin concentrations were adjusted for an altitude of > 1000 m above sea level (by subtracting 0.2 g/dL) [26]. P faktparam parasitentia was determined at the time of malarta antibody measurement using Giensa-stained thick and thin blood smears.

Plasmedium felciperum Antibody Assays

Antibodies against the AMA1 3D7 sequence and MSP1, 3D7 sequence of P faktparam antigens were measured from plasma samples by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) according to standard protocols as previously described for the RTS,5, Junja [27] and EMaBS cohorts [28]. A pool of malarta hyperimmune sera was serially diluted on each plate, and the optical densities from these dilutions were used to generate a standard curve. From this standard curve, an arbitrary unit per milliliter (AU/mL) was calculated for each sample based on the relative optical density obtained. Different pools of malariahyperimmune sera and ELISA antigens were used in the Kenyan and Ugandan laboratories.

D of in tioes

inflammation was defined as CBP > 5 mg/L. ID was defined as plasma ferritin < 12 µg/L or < 30 µg/L in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or < 15 µg/L in children \geq 5 years as defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) [29]. Low transferrin saturation (TSAT) < 10% (calculated as iron in µmol/L/(transferrin in g/L × 25.1) × 100)) [30] was considered as a secondary definition of ID. TSAT was calculated in Kenya only because Ugandan plasma samples were stored in EDTA, which chelates iron. We did not define ID by hepcidin or sTIR since there are no internationally established cutoffs. Anemia was defined as hemoglobin < 11 g/dL in children aged 0–4 years or hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL in children >4 years. IDA was defined as low ferritin and anemia [1]. We used malaria exposure index, which estimates a distance-weighted local prevalence of malaria infection within a kilometer radius around an index child with acute malaria, as previously described [31]. A malaria episode was defined as parasitemia and temperature > 37.5°C. Malaria incidence was calculated by dividing total malaria episodes by follow-up time. Underweight was defined as weight-for-age z-score < -2 using the WHO Growth Reference Standards [32]. Hemoglobin and anthropometric measurements were only available for the Junju and EMaBS cohorts.

Statistical Mathods

Data analysis was performed using STATA 13.0 (StataCorp., College Station, TX). Non-normally distributed iron and inflammation biomarkers, and malarta antibodies were normalized by natural-log transformation. Crude differences in means of log antibody levels between tron-deficient and tron-replete children were determined using 2-tailed Student I-tests and univariable linear regression models. Multivariable linear regression models were used to estimate the association between ID and malaria antibody levels, pooling data from all cohorts and adjusting for study site, age, sex, inflammation, and P. fakiparum parastientia at the time of antibody measurement. The linear regressions were run on log transformed data; hence the beta values returned reflect changes on a log scale. To transform these to fold differences that could be applied to the linear scale, we used the formula 10^Beta. The significance of possible interactions was estimated from the Wald test. Because not all indexes of previous malarta exposure were available for all cohorts, a meta-analysis of results from multivariable models for individual cohorts was fitted, additionally adjusting for malaria exposure index. in the Kenyan cohorts, malaria vaccination status in the RTS,S cohort, and prior malarta incidence, time since last malarta episode, and time between tron and antibody measurements in the EMaBS cohort. In longitudinal analyses EMaBS children were further grouped by those that had iron measurements 0-2 or 2-4 years before antibody measurement. A P-value of < .05 was considered dantficant.

RESULTS

A total of 924 Kenyan and 870 Ugandan children were included in the study. Participant characteristics and malarta exposure varied by study cohorts as shown in Table 1. Children living in Junju had the highest malarta exposure, whereas children in the RTS,S cohort had very low levels of malarta exposure. Prevalence of asymptomatic *P* falciparum parasitemia varied by study cohort from 34.70% in Junju to 1.97% in the RTS,S cohort (Table 1).

Overall, 31% of children had ID as defined by WHO gutdance [29], 47% had ID as defined by TSAT < 10%, and 13% had IDA, with prevalences varying by study cohort. Geometric means of individual iron biomarkers similarly showed that ID was highly prevalent among the cohorts. Malarta-specific antibody levels also varied by cohort. In keeping with a higher exposure to malarta, children in the Junju cohort had the highest levels of anti-AMA-1 and MSP-1 antibodies compared to other cohorts (Table 1). In univariable analyses, age, inflammation and malarta parasitemia were positively associated with both anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels (Supplementary Table 1).

Iron Deficiency is Associated With Reduced Malaria-specific Antibody Levels

Anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibodies were lower in trondeficient compared to irron-replete children, with the largest differences in antibody levels observed in children from the junja cohort, where malarta transmission was also the highest (Supplementary Figure 1). In multivariable regression models adjusted for age, sex, study site, inflammation, and malarta parasitemia ID was associated with decreased anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels (adjusted mean difference on a log-transformed scale (β) =0.46; 95% CI, =.66, =.25 P < .0001; β =0.33; 95% CI, =.50, =.16 P < .0001, corresponding to =4 fold and 2-fold reductions on a linear scale, respectively) (Table 2). ID remained associated with reduced malaria-specific antibody levels after further adjustment for underweight (Supplementary Table 2).

To account more fully for the effects of previous malarta on antibody levels, we conducted a meta-analysis of individual cohorts with further adjustments for additional covartates including malarta exposure index [31], incidence of malarta prior to antibody measurement and time since last malarta episode, as available for individual cohorts. ID remained associated with decreased antibody levels to anti-AMA-1 (β =0.34; 95% CI, =52, =16) and anti-MSP-1 (β =0.26; 95% CI, =.41, =.11) in overall meta-analyses (Figure 1). IDA was associated with reduced anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in Kenyan children but not in Ugandan or in overall analyses (Supplementary Table 2 and Supplementary Figure 2).

Considering other iron biomarkers, we found that ID defined by TSAT < 10% was associated with reduced anti-AMA-1 but not anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in multivariable analyses and meta-analyses (Table 2 and Figure 1). Increased TSAT, ferritin, and sTfR levels were associated with increased anti-AMA-1 antibody levels, whereas higher ferritin and hepcidin levels were associated with increased anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in multivariable models (Supplementary Table 3).

Iron Duficiancy Earlier in LHo May Influence Subsequent Antibody Lovels. We tested the hypothesis that 1D might influence subsequent, malaria antibody levels for a prolonged period of time in the EMaBS birth cohort. ID was associated with lower anti-AMA-1 and antil-MSP-1 antibody levels up to 2 years after iron status measurements and only with lower anti-AMA-1 antibody levels 2–4 years after iron measurements (Supplementary Figure 3).

15.0.
Table 1. Characteristics of Study Participants

Characteristics		Overall n = 1794		Karnya				Ligende	
				Junju n = 582		RT5,5 n = 342		d5 n = 970	
Medan age months (ICP)"	24.0 (10.62 34.92)		2774 (10.03, 51.74)		12.61 (9.08, 16.79)		24.00 (22.97 25.90)		
Sec famale to (total (%)	877/1794 (48.008)		294/582 H8.90		100/342 (40.12)		425/870 (48.85)		
Underweight, no./Istal (%)*	100/1211 (13.71)		88/244 (25.58)		7.8		70/667 (9.00)		
inflammation, no/Istal (%)*	478/1360 (27104)		100/164 (01.91)		96/239 (28.02)		212/046 (25.00)		
Melerie penesternie, no /ktel (%) ⁴	262/1588 (16.50)		203(682 (24.70)		2(15)2 (1.97)		\$7/654 (E.G7)		
Malaria espoeura indea, madan 9070*	ndes, medan 9079" 0.32 (15 ⁻² , 0.62)		0.50 (6.16", 0.75)		0.09 (2.17		78		
Melene incidence, growen (25%, C3 ²	1.02 (.92, 1.10)		167 (141, 196)		16		.97 (SM, 1.01)		
E), low fertilin, no /total (%) ⁴	529/1682 (21.37)		111/552 (20.11)		153/225 (45.67)		264/796 (22.17)		
ID, low TSAT, no /lotal (%)*	425/589 (4781)		220/684 (20.71)		206/325 (61.19)		n/u		
EA, no,/total (%)	171/1265 (12.52)		20468 (18.44)		n/a		90/762 (10.05)		
Anemia, no./total (%)	585/1367 (42.79)		203(5.76 (03.57)		n/a		229/04 (26.28)		
Siomarkers and malaria antibodies		gmean (95% CI)		gmean (95% CI)		gmean (95% CI)		gmean (95% CI)	
Farrite (agl.)	1000	22.44 (22.29, 24.64)	552	22.68 (20.0, 25.61)	225	1740 (15.70, 19.30)	795	21.10 (19.61, 22.69)	
TSAT (N)	1923	10.76 (10.34, 11.10)	554	11.01 (11.20, 12.42)	225	9.21 (1.60, 9.77)		nje	
Hepcidin (pgfL)	1024	6.71 (6.24, 710)	545	701 (8.4, 172)	290	5.69 (4.92,6.58)	850	6.92 (6.39, 748)	
iron (ag/d.)	900	244 (7.12, 780)	565	282 (767, 8.31)	256	6.00 (5.24, TCC)		nja	
Transform (mg/dl.)	1,74(3)	2.70 (2.68), 2.728	588	2.70 (2.62, 2.72)	227	2.87 (2.91, 2.92)	244	2.68 (2.64, 2.72)	
(Jprt impl.)	1705	11.07 (10.68, 11.48)	\$73	10.22 (1762, 10.91)	229	18.04 (1326, 18.70)	252	6.53 (6.23, 6.65)	
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	1367	10.05 (10.76, 10.94)	576	10.15 (10.02, 10.31)		n/la	834	11.30 (11.2, 11.40)	
C7P (mgL)	1.740	1.77 (1.64, 1.91)	564	2.21 (2.00, 2.61)	229	2.00156, 78	945	1.41 (1.26, 1.54)	
AMA-1 (ALI)THE	1678	55.04 (50.76, 61.42)	582	196.99 (164.95, 225.25)	242	28.06 (25.74,42.51)	754	25.11 (22.15, 28.47)	
MSP-1 (ALIVINE)	1705	191.60 (170.0, 193.98)	582	254 04 (213 29, 400.08)	242	14713 (132.29, 163.64)	041	124.63 (113.92, 136.36)	

Abbrectotors: AWA-1, apical mensionile antigen 1 - CL, confidence intercol; CFP: Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen 1 - CL, confidence intercol; CFP: Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, geometric reser; EXA, increactive antigen; CFP; Creactive protein: gream, gr

Wedan age at time of iron measurement.

*Linderweight was defined as veight for age 2 score < -2.

Inflammation, C-mactive protein > 5 mgl.

Notata patantenia, Plannadum takganan patantenia at any density at the time-of iron measurement.

"Molanta exposure index, a marker of the level of a child's exposure to malaria and was calculated as the distance-weighted prevalence of clinical malaria within 1 km radius of the child's residence.

Wolato incidence, total number of malata episodes before the time of iron meanarement/follow-up time.

Provide/Edency as low levels, plasma levels, < 12 µgC or < 30 µgC in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or < 16 µgC in children > 5 years or as 'low TSAU TSAU < 10%. TSA as 10 defined by low levels and anemia.

Anemia as hemoglobin < 11 g/di. In children aged 0 to 6 years or hemoglobin < 115 g/di. In children above 6 years.

DISCUSSION

We have investigated the association between iron status and anti-P. falciparam antibodies in 1794 Kenyan and Ugandan children. We found that ID was associated with reduced levels of anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibodies, even after adjustment for potential confounders including previous malaria exposure. TSAT < 10% was similarly associated with reduced levels of anti-AMA-1 antibody levels. A range of individual iron markers, induding ferritin, TSAT, hepcidin, and sTfR levels were positively associated with malaria antibody levels. ID remained associated with reduced malaria antibody levels for up to 4 years.

We found that ID was associated with lower anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 malaria antibody levels, even after adjustment for potential confounders including previous malaria exposure. The relationship between malaria, iron parameters, and antibody levels differed between study sites. The effect of ID on anti-P faktparam antibody levels was most marked among children with the highest malaria exposure and antibody levels, as seen in the junju cohort, although little difference by ID was

46 . CED 2021:73 (1 July) . Bund et al

observed in children with very low levels of malaria exposure and antibody levels, as seen in the RTS,S cohort. In agreement with our findings, Nyakeriga et al reported that total igG, igG2, and igE antibody levels were lower in iron-deficient compared to iron-replete Kenyan children [20]. We found that the effects of ID on anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels persisted over time, perhaps due to continuing ID or a long-term effect of ID on immune development. IDA was similarly associated with reduced anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in Kenyan but not Ugandan children, perhaps because few Ugandan children had IDA or because anemia has a multifactorial etiology that may differ between countries.

We further investigated the effects of a range of iron markers on malaria-specific antibody levels. TSAT, an indicator of low levels of circulating iron, may more accurately reflect what iron status would be in the absence of malaria and inflammation compared to ferritin [33, 34]. TSAT < 10% was associated with reduced anti-AMA-1, although not anti-MSP-1, antibody levels in adjusted models. Hepcidin, the iron regulatory hormone, controls the absorption

Table 2. Association Bahwoon iron Deficiency and AMA-1 and MSP-1 Antibody Levels in Univariable and Multivariable Regression Models

		Inon Piepletia		Iron Deficient	Unedjusted		Adjusted	
Cahort	n	Geometric Mean (20% Cit	n	Geometric Meen (86%-CI)	Coefficient (06% Ci)	Piedus	Coefficient (SE% Ci)	Prette
Log AMA-1 antib	ody							
ID, low feetlin								
Overall n = 15/23	1094	7727 (88.74, 8761)	612	26.91 (23.7) 30.47)	-105 (-126,85)	<.0001	-46 (00,25)	< 0001
Junju n = 552	441	294.12 (222.90, 34761)	111	40.77 (20.04, 55.22)	-1.94 (-2.32 -151)	<.0001	-51 (-39), -128	.01
EMal35 = - 606	471	29.40 (25.02, 34.30)	775	1271 (14.42, 21.79)	-51 (-72 -22)	<.0001	- 30 - 64, - 00	10
RTSS n = 225	1922	29.71 (26.22, 43.53)	1528	26.97 (23.90, 40.10)	07 [20, 053	.24	02 (12.10)	.04
ID, IOW TSAT								
Overall n = 897	464	175.19 (141.91, 212.70)	425	58,64 (51,20, 69,47)	-1.00 (-1.32,82)	< 0001	- 34 (- 58, - 10)	507
Junjun = 552	234	318 79 (252.45, 400.97)	220	92.15 (70.04, 121.20)	-1.24 (-1.02,88)	<.0001		.06
HTSS n = 205	1380	28.40 (24.50, 42.68)	205	2739 (34.50, 40.41)	02 (15, .10)	/20	051-00,100	.40
Log MSP-1 antib	sdy.							
ID, low heritin								
Overall n = 1625	1137	212.51 (196.33, 222.19)	518	126.21 (112.14, 140.00)	-52 (52 - 38)	<.0001	-30(-50,-17)	< 0001
Janjun - 552	441	410.20 (264.24, 400.57)	112	166.45 (129.78, 215.12)	- 52 (-122, - 82)	<.0001	- 50 (- 522, - 152	300
EMaltS n = 700	514	112.00(110.57 160.12)	254	108.42 583.99, 126.852	-22 (42,02)		- 20 (- 40, .01)	07
HTSS e - 225	1927	155.90 (134.65, 100.70)	153	134.93 (115.01, 159.30)	- 15 (22	06 (27.15)	.00
ID, Iow TSAT								
Overall n - 899	464	205.10 (268.12, 247.25)	425	208.09 (182.78, 236.91)	- 20 (- 57 - 20)	<.0001	02(24, .20)	.82
Junju n 554	224	425.29 (245.72, 475.11)	720	28197 (234 88, 253 05)	-50 (78,26)	<.000T	02 (28, .25)	.56
NTSS n = 225	130	14723 (125.45, 172.7%)	205	146.04 (137220, 160, 51)	002 (25, 24)	90	05 (- 16, 20)	100

measurement ISMARS columiti. Iron deficiency was defined as fai ID, low levitin; plasma territin < 12 ygl, or < 30 ygl, in the presence of inflammation in children < 5 years or < 15 ygl. in children > 5 years and ib) E., kwy TSAT (TSAT < 12%). Abbreviationa: EMsES, Enterble Mother and Roby Study, D., iron deficiency, TSAT, transferin valuation.

and recycling of tron, and is regulated by tron stores, infection and erythropotetic drive [35]. We found that increased hepcidin levels were associated with increased anti-MSP-1 antibody levels in overall multivariable analyses. In a previous study of 324 Kenyan children we stmilarly found that hepcidin levels were positively associated with anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-2 antibody levels [21]. In contrast to the other tron markers, we found that increased sTfR. levels, an indicator of both increased ID and erythropotetic drive, were associated with increased anti-AMA-1 antibody levels. This might be explained by the strong association between sTfR levels and malaria [36], thus increased sTfR could indicate recent malaria exposure rather than ID.

How might ID lead to reduced malaria-specific antibody levels? One explanation is that iron may play a critical role in humoral immunity and particularly in antigen-specific antibody production as suggested by recent studies [7, 8, 11]. A missense mutation in transferrin receptor 1, necessary for iron uptake by cells, was associated with defective B-cell proliferation and reduced IgG production in children and in mouse models [8]. ID is similarly associated with markedly reduced antigen-specific antibody responses, likely due to impaired iron-dependent histone 3 lystne 9 demethylation, critical for B cell proliferation [7]. There is sparse literature in humans with conflicting findings. ID has been associated with reduced IgG antibodies, including to pneumococcal antigen [8-11], although some studies report little association [14, 16]. ID has also been associated with weakened antibody responses to measles, diphtheria,

whooping cough, and tetanus vaccines in some studies [7, 13] but not others [17, 18].

Reduced malarta-specific antibodies in iron deficient children may also be explained by the complex relationship between iron status and malarta. 113 has some protective effect against malaria infection in children [37], and thus iron-deficient children may have fewer malaria episodes leading to reduced malariaspecific antibody levels. Another explanation is that malarta influences measures of iron status. Ferritin levels are elevated for a prolonged period after a malaria infection, even after CRP levels have normalized [34], so that children with low ferritin levels may be less likely to have had recent malaria and thus might have reduced antibody levels. Moreover, the malariaspecific antibodies, anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1, are markets of malaria exposure [38, 39], as well as correlates of naturally acquired immunity against clinical malaria [5, 6, 22]. We adjusted for previous malaria exposure in meta-analyses; however, It is likely that not all previous malaria was fully accounted for.

Strengths of our study included its large sample state of 1794 children from cohorts of varying malaria intensity in Kenya and Uganda. We also measured specific malarta antibodies known to contribute to immunity to clinical malaria [6, 22], assayed a wide range of markers of iron status, and adjusted for known potential confounders in our models. There were also some important itmitations to our study. First, apart from malarta parasitemia, we did not have standardized measures for malarta exposure available for

Iron Deficiency and Malaria Immunity + CID 2021:73 (1 July) + 47



all cohorts, however, we conducted meta-analyses that accounted for measures of previous malarta, including malarta exposure index, incidence of clinical malaria, and time since a malaria ephode, as available for each study site. Another limitation was that ID was defined using WHO guidance [29], which adjusts ferritin levels for inflammation (CRP > 5 mg/dl), however since ferritin levels are elevated for a prolonged period after CRP levels have normalized following malaria infection [34], lower ferritin levels muld also reflect less recent malarta exposure. In addition to adjusting for recent malaria, we also defined ID using TSAT, which is less influenced by inflammation and malaria [33, 34], although this marker was not available for all cohorts. A further limitation of our study is that elevated anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 antibody levels may not be mechanically related with clinical protection against malarta. However, even as correlates of exposure the responses may still be useful indicators of the host's immunological response. Antibody levels were also measured using different pools of malaria-hyperimmune control sera in different laboratories in Kenya and Uganda, although protocols were stmilar between sites. Desptie these differences, our findings were notably similar between the different study sites.

In summary, we found that ID was associated with lower levels of anti-AMA-1 and anti-MSP-1 malarta antibodies, known to be important in antibody-mediated immunity to clinical malarta in African children [5, 6, 22]. Our findings are supported by studies demonstrating that iron is critical for the development of humoral immunity [7, 8]. ID is highly prevalent among African children, and it is not known whether improving iron status might improve immune function and reduce disease burden. The current study supports WHO recommendations to offer iron supplementation coupled with malarta instiment in malarta endemic regions to prevent and ireat iron deficiency [40]. Further research to infer causality between ID and malarta immunity, such as randomized controlled intals of the effects of iron supplementation on malarta antibody levels are needed, as well as further studies to assess associations between ID and malarta vacche responses.

Supplementary Data

Supplementary materials are available at Clinical Infections Disease online. Consisting of data provided by the authors to benefit the reader, the posted materials are not copyedited and are the sole responsibility of the authors, so quantities or comments should be addressed to the corresponding author.

Notes

ments. The authors thank Barnes Kitage and kreetfer Museoki Advandado at the KEMRI-Welkome Trust Research Programme for their support in retrieving anistend samples and Nelson Langet for autotance in data analysis and interpretation. They also thank the team at the Establic Mother and Ilaby Stady under the Medical Research Council (MRC)/Uganda Virus Research Institute and London School of Hygtere & Tropical Medicine Uganda Research Unit. This study is published with permitation from the Director of KEMRI.

Disclaimer. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the African Academy of Science, NEPAD Agency, Welkome, or the UK government.

Financial support. This work was supported by Welkcores (grant numbers 181255 to S. H. A., 202800 to T. N. W., 10628 to A. I. M., and grant mumbers 064073, 079110, 095778 to A. M. E.). Wellcome provides a core award to the 821MRI-Welkoms: Trust Research Programme (grant number 202077). A. I. M. was also supported by an Oxford University Christal Academic School Instational Felowship, I.G. II. was apported by a Sentor Research Felowship of the National Health and Methcal Research Council of Australia (grant number 1077636). C. K. B., R. M. M., and I. M. M. sure supported dama DELTAS Africa Initiative (DEL-05-003). L. L. to supported by a PhD fellowship through the DELIAS Africa Initiative Sub-Saharan Africa Consortium for Advanced Biostatistics Training (SSACAR, grant number 107754). The DELTAS Africa Initiative to an independent funding scheme of the African Academ of Schereen's Alliance for Accelerating Encellence in Scheree in Africa (AESA) and supported by the New Partnership for Africa's Development Planning and Coordinating Agency (NEDAD Agency) with funding from Willcome (grant marelsers 107709, 317743) and the UK government. The Ugandan cohort was conducted at the MROUVRI and ISHTM Uganda Research Unit which to jointly funded by the UK Medical Research Council (MRC) and the UK Department for International Development (DFID) under the MIRC/DFID Concordat agreement and is also part of the EDCIP2 Program supported by the European Union.

Potential conflicts of interest. The authors: No reported conflicts of interest. All authors have submitted the ICMJE Form for Diadosare of Potential Coefficia of Internat.

References

- 1. Worki Health Organization. Iron deficiency assents: assesses1, prevention, and control. A guide for programme managers. Geneva, Settaretand. WSRI, 2001.
- GBD 2016. Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years level with disability for 328 disease and injuries for 196 countries, 1990-2016. a sysismuitic analysts for the Global Burdon of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017; 390-1211-54
- 3. Shoard NJ, Iron deficiency and infant development. Natr Rev 1994, 52137-40.
- 4. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2019. Genova, Switzer W110 2019
- 5. Onier FH, Feng G, Boyle MJ, et al. Opsonic plagocylosis of Plasmodium Juli29arum movembos mechanism in human immunity and a correlate of protection against malarta. RMC Med 2014, 12,108.
- aces NG, Ebrow ER, Boyle MJ, Forg G, Fewkas HJ, Richards M. Mercanita narface proteins in red blood cell investm, immunity and vacchos against malarta. FEMS Mikmobiol Ray 2014, 46,543-72.
- 7. Bang Y. Li C. Wu Q. et al. Iron-dependent bistome 3 lysine 9 densibyfation shole 8 call problembon and humoral immune responses. Nat Commun 2014-10.2015
- 8. Jahara HH, Royden SE, Chea J, et al. A minimum mutation in THHC, encoding reta receptor 1, casase combined immunodeliciency. Nat Genet 2016; 43.74-8.
- Haman TH, Badr MA, Karam NA, et al. Impact of iron-deficiency assents on the function of the immune system in children. Medicine (Baltimoni) 2016; 951–5. 10. Abbauta Demmosche SR. Iron deficiency attenta in children and alleration of
- the immune system. J Nutr Food Sci. 2014, 5-J -S.
- 11. Fong XII, Yang XI), Shen J. Infhamco of iron delicioncy on sorum IgG subclass and protemocrocal polytaccharides specific IgG subclass antibodies. Chin Med J (Eng) 1094 107/113-6
- 12. Nakler BN, Mahoney AW, Ramakrishnan R, Hendricks DG. Sensitivity of the immanological response to the maintitional status of rate, 3 Nutr 1972, 102,525-41.

- 13. Macdoragali LG, Andorson R, McNah GM, Katz J. The immune response in iron deficient children invested callular delivers machanisms with allored humorid components, 1 Pediatr 1675, 86,833-43.
- 14. Das I, Saha K, Makhopalbyay D, et al. Impact of tron deficiency america coll-moduled and humoral immunity in children, a case control study. J Nat Sci Bel Mad 2014 5-158-63.
- 15. Thibauli H, Galan P, Selz F, et al. The immune response in iron-deficient young children. effect of two supplementation on call-mediated increasity. Ear | Pediat 1005.157.178.4
- 16. Sadoghtan Mil, Koramati MR, Ayatollahi II, Manavillar I, Enatali II, Mahmoudi M. Serum immunoglobulits in patients with iron deficiency asserts. Indian | Hernatol Blood Transfer 2010; 36-6-8.
- 17. Chandra RK, Saraya AK, Impaired immunocomp sizes a mexided with true defictance, 176date 1875-16200-002.
- 18. Tagchi K, Mohannan M, Raddy V. Hamonal immune response in children with tron-deficiency amarenta. Br Mod J 1980; 280/1249-51. 14. Ned RM, Swat W, Androws NC, Thanslerrin receptor 1 to differentially required in
- prophocyle development. Hood 2005, 102.3711-8. 25. Nyskerigs A.M., Troyo-Biemberg M., Doffman H., et al. Iron delkiency and
- malaria among childron bring on the coast of Kanya. J Indict Die 2004. 190-439-47.
- 21. Alkinson SSI, Uyoga SM, Armilago AE, et al. Malaria and ago variably but critically untered hopestation the management cheld based in Kompus. Edites Mandiscine 2015; 2,1479–84.
- 22. Chier Fill, Fegen G., Polley SO, et al. Results and magnitude of antibody respon io multiple *Plannolium fultiparum* mennolle antigens are anostated with pro-tection from clinical mularia. Infect Immun 2008, 76-7240–8.
- 23. Bejon 7, Williams TN, Liljander A, et al. Stable and unriable malarta holopola in longfindingl cohort shades in Kanya PLoS Med 2010, 7 at 100 KH.
- 24. Bejon 7, Lusingu J, Olotz A, et al. Efficacy of HTS,5/ASOLE vaccine against ma larta in children 5 to 17 months of age. N Engl J Med 2008, 359-2521 - 32
- 25. Elliott AM, Kizza M, Quigley MA, et al. The impact of heiminths on the response to immunication and on the incidence of indiction and disease in childhood in Uganda: design of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, factorial intal of deworming interventions delivered in prognamcy and early childhood [SRCIN1286440]. Clin Tride 2007; 442-57.
- 26. World Health Organization. Havmoglobin concentrations for the diagnosts of gravents and goostmont of severity. Genora: World Health Organization, 2011.
- 27. Niturga FM, Meacharo J, Wambua J, et al. A seren-year shaly on the effect of the pro-orythracytic malaria saccino candidate RTS,S/ASOI E on blood stage immomity in young Kampan children. Welkome Open Ras 2010, 4-C.
- 28. Nalwogs A, Cose S, Wakshare K, et al. Ameritation between malaria opposite and Reports surgeme an octaind horpes virus seropositivity in Uganda. Thep Mod Int Haulth 2015, 20465-72
- 28. World Haddh Organization. Serum Sertils concestrations for the ass toni cil iron status and iron deficiency in populations. Genera, Switzerland, W103, 2011.
- 30. Namantahi 10. Iyama 5, Yamaguchi Y, Kanakura Y, Iwalani Y. Tolal iron-binding capacity calculated from serum transforms concentration or serum iron concen tration and anoshrated iron-binding capacity. (2nn Chom 2005, 48-175-8. Oleita A, Fegan G, Wambua J, et al. Entimating individual exposate to m
- 31. using local prevalence of realistic indiction in the field. PLoS One 2012, 7a 12929.
- 32. World Health Organization. WHO child growth standards. length height-for-age. weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body man inder-forup-matheds and development. Genera, Switzerland, WHU, 2006.
- 33. Murtuiti JM, Mentoer AJ, Webb EL, et al. Estimating the burden of iron deficiency among Altrican children. EMC Med 2020; 18-31.
- Cardwerg PC, Sarbah EW, Koram KA, et al. Malaria causes long-term effects on markets of true status in children a critical assessment of existing clinical and pidaeminingtcal tools. Malar | 3918-1-12.
- 35. Alkinaon SSL Armitage AS, Khandwala S, et al. Combinatorial effects of malarta season, from deficiency, and inflammation determine plasma hepcidin concentraion in African children. Bood 2014, 123-3221-4.
- 34. Varhoof II, West CE, Ndolo P, Buroma J, Bagain Y, Kok FE. Sorum inaudients recopior concentration indicates increased or phropoiants in Kenyan children with asymptomatic materia. Am J Chn Natr 2001; 74:347-75.
- 37. Muriuki IM, Montaor AI, Elmita W, et al. Iron status and as taled realarts risk among Alrican children. Clin Indect Die 2008. 65.1807-14.
- 38. McCallum FJ, Person KE, Rowkas FJ, et al. Differing rates of antibody acquisition to mercardia antigeta in malaria, implications for immunity and surveillance. J Laskie Bird 2017-101-013-25.
- 34. Preach All, Ondago IIN, Ayoda GA, Valale JM, John CE, Castch SE, Decline in childhood iron delicioncy after interception of malaria transmission in highland Kanya, Am. J Clin Nutr 2014; 100-968-73.
- Wirkl Haulh Organization. Gaideline. daily iron supplementation in infants and children. Genera, Switzerland. W110, 2016.

fron Deficiency and Malaria Immunity + CID 2021;73 (1 July) + 49